NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY

Micro-focused MHz Pink Beam for Time-resolved X-ray Emission Spectroscopy

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Field of Physics and Astronomy

By

Ming-Feng Tu

EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

June 2019

 \bigodot Copyright by Ming-Feng Tu 2019

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Micro-focused MHz Pink Beam for Time-resolved X-ray Emission Spectroscopy

Ming-Feng Tu

Valence-to-core (vtc) x-ray emission spectra (XES) provides direct information on occupied valence orbitals and is sensitive to chemical environment. Combining with element specificity and high penetration of hard x-rays, it is emerging as an information-rich technique and its applications have been demonstrated in research fields, such as catalysis and metalloenzymes. However, the vtc feature is typically two orders of magnitude weaker than K α emission lines, making it hard to collect, especially for transient species. To overcome this disadvantage, pink beam excitation capability was demonstrated recently at Sector 7 of the Advanced Photon Source. A water-cooled mirror rejects high harmonics from the undulator, and beryllium compound refractive lenses (CRL) focus the reflected fundamental beam (pink beam) to a 40 μ m x 12 μ m elliptical spot (~10¹⁵ photons/second) at the sample target that matches the laser spot size used for photoexcitation. In combination with an ultrafast laser, the focused pink beam was utilized to probe the photoexcited spin crossover (SCO) process of [Fe^{II}(bpy)₃]²⁺ in a liquid jet with a laser-pump/x-ray-probe scheme. The results successfully demonstrated the application of this pink beam capability for ultrafast charge transfer dynamics in solvated molecules.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Christoph Bostedt. Christoph offers me the invaluable learning opportunity. I feel lucky to join AOM group of ANL, work on this intriguing pink beam project, and complete my degree. The adventure of entering a different research field forced me to acquire more knowledge, i.e., x-ray optics, synchrotron radiation, x-ray spectroscopy, time-resolved spectroscopy, and inorganic chemistry. Thank you for giving me sufficient time to learn and to get used to a new group. I am also thankful to Dr. Gilles Doumy who has been leading this projet. Prof. Christoph Bostedt and Dr. Gilles Doumy always made right decisions and came up with good ideas to cope with the challenges we encounters. That was why this project progressed smoothly and succeeded.

A special thank you goes to Dr. Andre Al Haddad for deeply participating in the project and always encouraging me. In addition, many thanks to Dr. Stephen Southworth, Dr. Anne Marie March, and Dr. Yoshiaki Kumagai for helpful advice and making effort in the beamtime. It is my good luck to meet Dr. Linda Young and Dr. Phay J. Ho here. Thank you for inviting me to participate in other fascinating projects and the supports in every respect.

I learned valuable experience of collaborating with research staff in other groups. A special thank you goes to Dr. Donald Walko and Dr. Anthony DiChiara. Your effort on beamline made beamtimes successful. In addition, owing to the support from Engineer

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	3
Acknowledgements	5
Table of Contents	7
List of Tables	9
List of Figures	10
Chapter 1. Introduction	14
Chapter 2. X-ray Science and Synchrotron Radiation	16
2.1. Interaction of X-ray Photon with Matter	17
2.2. Synchrotron Radiation Facility	21
2.3. Sector 7ID Beamline of APS Synchrotron	29
Chapter 3. X-ray Emission Spectroscopy	35
3.1. K α and K β Mainlines	36
3.2. Valence-to-Core Features	40
3.3. Spectrometers for XES	42
Chapter 4. Beamline Layout and X-ray Optical Apparatus	44
4.1. Design of Harmonic Rejection Mirror	47

4.2. X-ray Beam Focusing with Compound Refractive Lenses (CRL) 52
Chapter 5. X-ray Beam Profile Measurement	64
5.1. Scintillator Imaging	65
5.2. Pinhole Scan	69
5.3. Knife Edge Scan	72
Chapter 6. Coordination Compound	75
6.1. Octahedral Transition Metal Complex	76
6.2. Spin Crossover and Fe ^{II} Complex	82
Chapter 7. XES Application for Charge Transfer Dynamics	85
7.1. Static XES of $[Fe^{II}(CN)_6]^{4-}$	88
7.2. Time-resolved XES of Photoexcited $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$	92
Chapter 8. Conclusion and Outlook	105
References	107

List of Tables

7.1	Experimental conditions for static measurement	90
7.2	Flux estimate	91

List of Figures

2.1	Characteristic x-ray radiation of elements	16
2.2	Photo absorption coefficient as a function of Z	18
2.3	Three different physical processes in x-ray matter interaction	20
2.4	Schematic of synchrotron radiation facility	22
2.5	Advanced Photon Source (APS)	23
2.6	Bending magnet radiation	24
2.7	Spectrum of bending magnet radiation	24
2.8	Insertion Devices (ID)	26
2.9	Distinction of wigglers and undulators	26
2.10	Temporal structure and emission spectrum of different radiation sources	27
2.11	Temporal structure of APS synchrotron radiation	29
2.12	Sector 7ID beamline layout	30
2.13	Schematic of ultra-fast high-repetition-rate MOPA laser	31
2.14	Pulse powers and energies of Duetto MOPA laser system	32
2.15	Temporal structure for laser-pump/x-ray-probe measurement	34
3.1	XES energy diagram	35

3.2	XES K α emission lines	36
3.3	XES K β mainline splitting	37
3.4	XES K β mainlines	38
3.5	Spin flip mechanism in ${\rm K}\beta$ mainline	39
3.6	XES vtc features for ligand identification and bond length	41
3.7	Scanning Johann spectrometer and dispersive von Hamos spectrometer	43
4.1	Beamline layout for focused pink beam	46
4.2	Reflectivity of 10 nm Rh deposited on a Si substrate.	48
4.3	Function of harmonic rejection mirror	49
4.4	Heat load simulation for harmonic rejection mirror	50
4.5	Water-cooled copper heat sink for harmonic rejection mirror	51
4.6	CRL properties	54
4.7	Properties of materials for x-ray lenses	55
4.8	Simulations for different numbers of lenses	56
4.9	Beryllium CRL and Cu-Al-Ni alloy pinholes	58
4.10	CRL adapter for water-cooled lens holder	58
4.11	Water-cooled CRL holder	59
4.12	CRL installed in a motorized stage	60
4.13	Focal distance scan of CRL (simulation and measurement)	61
4.14	Energy scan of CRL (simulation and measurement)	63

5.1	Scintillator imaging system	65
5.2	Absorption efficiency for various thicknesses of LYSO:Ce	66
5.3	Transmission rate of 25 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ Cu plus 305 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ Al	67
5.4	Comparison of beam proflies with and without CRL focusing	68
5.5	Schematic of an ion chamber	69
5.6	Pinehole scan in comparison with scintillator imaging (I)	70
5.7	Transmission of 230 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ Al	71
5.8	Pinehole scan in comparison with scintillator imaging (II)	72
5.9	Transmission rates of two different materials for knife edge scan	73
5.10	Knife edge scan measurement	74
6.1	$Ni(CO)_4$ transition metal complex	75
6.2	Octahedral transition metal complex	76
6.3	Splitting of d orbitals in octahedral transition metal complexes	77
6.4	Molecular orbitals of octahedral transition metal complexes (σ bonding)	78
6.5	Molecular orbitals of octahedral transition metal complexes (π bonding)	80
6.6	High spin and low spin configurations of d^6 transition metal complexes	81
6.7	Schematic of LMCT and MLCT transitions	81
6.8	Electron configurations and the energy level diagram of $\mathrm{Fe}^{\mathrm{II}}$ complexes	83
6.9	Ball-and-stick representation of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$	83
7.1	Spectrometer configuration	86

7.2	Full experiment setup	87
7.3	Comparison of static XES with pink beam and with mono beam	89
7.4	Photoinduced process of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$	92
7.5	Low Spin \leftrightarrow High Spin transition in $\rm Fe^{II}$ complexes	93
7.6	Schematic of spatial overlap of laser beam with x-ray pink beam	95
7.7	Normalized 3D profiles of laser beam and focused pink beam	96
7.8	$K\alpha_1$ time evolution of laser-excited $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$	97
7.9	${\rm K}\alpha$ and ${\rm K}\beta$ main line XES spectra of $[{\rm Fe}({\rm bpy})_3]^{2+}$	99
7.10	LS and HS of $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$	101
7.11	One minute acquisition of $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ 10 mM in acetonitrile	103
7.12	Low concentration sample measurement	104

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

X-ray emission spectroscopy (XES) involves the excitation of a core electron and the spectral measurement of the fluorescence emitted in the relaxation process to fill the core hole. Among the emission features of XES, the valence to core (vtc) transitions directly provide information on the occupied valence orbitals and are sensitive to chemical environment, such as ligand identification and bonding length. Owing to the availability of its theoretical modeling, vtc XES is emerging as an information-rich technique [1] [2] [3]. It has been utilized to elucidate the dynamics of photoexcited Fe-based complexes [4] and to investigate metalloenzymes [5]. The applicability of vtc XES to rather complex sample environments has also been demonstrated in the study of capture, conversion and transport of small molecules (N₂, H₂, CO₂, CO) in catalyst systems [6].

In addition, an important advantage of XES for 3d transition metals is that the Kedges range from 4 to 10 keV within the hard x-ray region. Because an ultra-high vacuum condition around the sample is not required with hard x-rays, it is possible to measure XES *in situ/operando*, or in extreme conditions such as high pressure [7] and high temperature [8].

The vtc features are typically two orders of magnitude weaker than $K\alpha$ emission lines (please refer to Chapter 3), making them challenging to collect with good statistics, especially for transient species. Although the successful development of high brilliance x-ray sources (x-ray free electron lasers (XFELs) and synchrotron radiation) and advancements in high-resolution crystal analyzers have profoundly improved the quality of the XES spectra, it presently takes tens of hours of acquisition time to attain high quality vtc XES with a multicrystal von Hamos spectrometer [4]. To overcome this difficulty, here we present a micro-focused pink beam excitation scheme to significantly enhance the XES measurement efficiency. The pink beam is the 1st order harmonic from a synchrotron radiation undulator. In comparison to a monochromatic beam produced with a crystal monochromator, the main advantage of the pink beam is the enormously boosted available flux owing to its much broader bandwidth ($\sim 1-2\%$ energy bandwidth). It has been employed for XRD [9] and various imaging systems [10] [11] [12] [13], while here we apply pink beam to time-resolved XES of solvated molecules.

In our scheme, a water-cooled flat mirror was used to reject high harmonics out of the undulator radiation, and beryllium compound refractive lenses (CRL) were utilized to focus the reflected fundamental beam (pink beam) to a 40 μm x 12 μm elliptical spot at a liquid jet sample target, matched by the laser spot size used for photoexcitation (details in Chapter 4). After characterizing the focused pink beam (details in Chapter 5), we could reproduce previous measurements of nonresonant XES spectra of $[Fe^{II}(CN)_6]^{4-}$ with only a fraction of the acquisition time with the benefit of pink beam's high flux of 10¹⁵ x-ray photons per second. In combination with an ultrafast high-repetition-rate laser, the focused pink beam was utilized to probe photoexcited $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ in a liquid jet with a laser-pump/x-ray-probe scheme (details in Chapter 7). The results successfully demonstrate the applicability of this recently achieved pink beam capability for ultrafast charge transfer dynamics.

CHAPTER 2

X-ray Science and Synchrotron Radiation

X-rays are electromagnetic radiation having wavelengths roughly within the range from 0.005 to 10 nm [**31**]. When fast electrons strike target atoms, the radiation spectrum that appears is the superposition of continuous radiation as well as very narrow emission lines in the x-ray range, as shown in the right panel of Fig. 2.1. The continuous radiation comes



Figure 2.1. Left: the scheme of electron shells in an atom. The electronic transitions correspond to the x-ray emission lines in the quantum theory of Bohr. Right: x-ray spectrum of Ag target at various tube voltages. [32]

from the scattering process of the incident electrons with the target atoms. However, if the incident electron has sufficient energy, it is able to knock out one of the inner bound electrons in the target atom. The emission lines occur in the process as electrons in a higher energy level fall down to fill the vacancy. The wavelengths of the emission lines reveal the unique energy structure of a specific atom and are also called characteristic x-ray lines of the element. In 1917 the Nobel Prize in Physics was awarded to Charles Glover Barkla owing to his significant work in the discovery of the characteristic x-ray radiation of the elements. The element specificity makes x-ray absorption and emission a powerful tool in science research. In this project, x-ray photon energy is utilized to excite a core electron for XES. Furthermore, the K-edges of 3d transition metals range from 4 to 10 keV lying in the hard x-ray region. An advantage of using hard x-rays is that an ultra-high vacuum condition around the sample is not required, and it is possible to measure XES *in situ/operando* or in extreme conditions. This chapter introduces the unique characteristics of interaction of hard x-ray photons with matter as well as the properties of synchrotron radiation which is employed as the high brilliance x-ray source for this project.

2.1. Interaction of X-ray Photon with Matter

Various physical processes might be observed in the interactions of x-ray photons with matter: photoelectric effect (absorption), Rayleigh (coherent) scattering, Compton (incoherent) scattering and pair production. In the photoelectric effect the incident x-ray photon is absorbed and if the photon energy $\hbar \omega$ exceeds the binding energy E_b of the electron, an electron is expelled with kinetic energy E_k .

(2.1)
$$E_k = \hbar\omega - E_b$$

The photoelectric effect absorption coefficient τ is the summation of cross sections from different absorption edges (K, L, M, etc.) with energy lower than the incident x-ray photon. For instance,

(2.2)
$$\tau = \tau_K + (\tau_{L1} + \tau_{L2} + \tau_{L3}) + \dots, \quad \hbar \omega > E_{K-edge}$$

(2.3)
$$\tau = (\tau_{L1} + \tau_{L2} + \tau_{L3}) + \dots, \quad E_{K-edge} > \hbar\omega > E_{L-edge}$$

Approximately,

(2.4)
$$\tau \simeq C Z^4 / (\hbar \omega)^3$$

where the constant C increases abruptly at each absorption edge of a specific element [32]. From the $1/\omega^3$ scaling it follows that high energy x-rays are highly penetrating.



Figure 2.2. Photo absorption coefficient τ as a function of Z for $\lambda = 1$ Å. [32]

Figure 2.2 plots τ as a function of Z for a given incident x-ray photon energy. An x-ray of 1 Å wavelength can excite the K-edge electron of light elements and τ increase with Z up to a certain value of Z, at which E_{K-edge} is about equal to $\hbar\omega$ for this element and then C drops abruptly. Therefore, a discontinuity occurs. Then an increase of τ with Z happens again until a new discontinuity is found at another Z value for L₁-edge, and so on.

Scattering refers to a process which changes the direction of a incident photon but does not absorb it. It can be elastic or inelastic. The elastic scattering of x-rays by bound atomic electrons is described by Rayleigh scattering with a cross section $\sigma_R \sim Z^2$. [31] In Rayleigh scattering the atom is neither ionized nor excited and the incident photons are scattered with unchanged energy and with a definite phase relation between the incoming and scattered waves. The intensity of the radiation scattered by an atom is determined by summing the amplitudes of the radiation coherently scattered by each of the electrons bound in the atom. In x-ray physics, one of the important applications of Rayleigh scattering is Bragg reflection, which occurs in periodic samples with a periodicity on the order of the incident wavelength. Another scattering process is the Compton scattering which is the interaction of a x-ray photon with a free electron that is considered to be at rest. The incident x-ray photon collides with the electron, changing its own wavelength and direction with cross section $\sigma_C \sim Z$. [31] The weak binding of electrons to atoms could be neglected, provided the momentum transferred to the electron greatly exceeds the momentum of the electron in the bound state. Therefore, Compton scattering is an inelastic scattering process. Relativistic energy and momentum are conserved in this process and the scattered x-ray photon has less energy and therefore greater wavelength

than the incident x-ray photon. In addition to photoelectric effect and scattering, pair production can occur when the X-ray energy exceeds 1.022 MeV. The process is that a



Figure 2.3. Three different physical processes, photoelectric effect, Compton scattering and pair production, dominate different domains of the atomic number Z and photon energy E. [33]

photon in a strong electric field, such as near an atom core, can produce an electronpositron pair with the annihilation of the photon, if the photon energy is sufficiently high.

(2.5)
$$\hbar\omega \longrightarrow e^- + e^+ + E_{e^-} + E_{e^+}$$

where E_{e^-} and E_{e^+} are the kinetic energies of e^- and e^+ . It is required that $\hbar \omega > 2m_e C^2 \simeq 1.022 MeV$. Pair production cannot occur in a vacuum but can only take place in the presence of a massive particle such as an atomic nucleus. A massive particle must participate in the process in order that energy and momentum can be conserved

simultaneously. Figure 2.3 shows that different physical processes of the interaction of xrays and matter dominate at different atomic numbers Z and photon energies E. Compton scattering dominate the energies from 500 keV to 5 MeV. The pink beam energy employed in this project is 8 keV. It will be shown in Chapter 4 and Chapter 7 that the important elements involved in this project are rhodium (Rh) for the harmonic rejection mirror, beryllium (Be) for the CRL, and iron (Fe) for XES with atomic numbers of 45, 4 and 26 respectively. It is clear that the photoelectric effect overwhelms Compton scattering and pair production in the interaction of the pink beam with important components in the experiment.

2.2. Synchrotron Radiation Facility

Synchrotron radiation is an extremely powerful x-ray source which is generated by high energy electrons circulating in a synchrotron storage ring. The photon emission in a synchrotron is attributed to one physical phenomenon: When a moving electron changes direction, it radiates photons. If the electron is moving fast enough, the emitted energy is at x-ray wavelengths. A synchrotron radiation facility consists of the following components: electron gun (e-gun), linear accelerator (LINAC), booster ring, storage ring, bending magnets, insertion device, radio frequency cavities (RF) and beamline. Figure 2.4 is a common schematic diagram of a modern synchrotron radiation facility and Figure 2.5 is the picture of the Advanced Photon Source (APS) at the U.S. Department of Energys Argonne National Laboratory.

Taking Advanced Photon Source (APS) as an example, the electron gun begins the process by running high voltage electricity through a heated ($\sim 1000^{\circ}$ C) cathode to repel



Figure 2.4. A synchrotron radiation facility consists of electron gun (e-gun), linear accelerator (LINAC), booster ring, storage ring, bending magnets, insertion device, radio frequency cavities (RF) and beamline. [34]

the electrons being produced by the cathode and accelerate them towards the LINAC. The LINAC is a series of radio frequency cavities which accelerate the electrons to an energy of 450 MeV. The high energy electrons are then injected from the LINAC into a booster ring and are accelerated from 450 MeV to 7 GeV, traveling near the speed of light. The 7 GeV electrons are then injected into the 1104-m-circumference storage ring. The kinetic energy of the electrons in the storage ring dissipated due to emission of radiation at the bending magnets and insertion devices is replenished by a radio frequency cavity (RF) of 352 MHz [38].



Figure 2.5. Advanced Photon Source (APS) [38]

2.2.1. Synchrotron Radiation

There are three categories of synchrotron radiation which are generated by bending magnets, wigglers, and undulators respectively. The main characteristics is introduced here.

The primary purpose of bending magnets is to circulate the electron beam in the storage ring on a closed path, since electrons prefer to travel in a straight line. The emission of bending-magnet radiation is a by-product of the deflection function. Bending magnets have typical magnetic field strengths of around a Tesla. The bending-magnet radiation is in a flattened cone with a fan angle roughly equal to the angular change of the path of the electrons [**34**], as illustrated in Figure 2.6.



Figure 2.6. An illustration of the radiation generated by a bending magnet. [34]



Figure 2.7. A typical spectral lineshape of a broadband bending magnet emission in a linear-linear plot (top) and in a log-log plot (bottom). [35]

The emission spectrum of the bending magnet is peaked at the photon energy

(2.6)
$$h\nu_c \approx h\gamma^2 eB/(\pi m_o),$$

with the photon energy bandwidth

(2.7)
$$\Delta h\nu \approx h\gamma^2 eB/(\pi m_o)$$

where

(2.8)
$$\gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - (v/c)^2}}, \quad (v: velocity of electrons, c: speed of light).$$

Therefore the ratio between bandwidth and peak energy equals to unity:

(2.9)
$$\Delta h\nu/h\nu_c \approx 1.$$

Consequently, the radiation from a bending magnet is a broadband emission. Figure 2.7 represents a typical bell-shaped Gaussian-like spectral lineshape of a bending magnet [35].

The bending magnet radiation is automatically available in all storage rings. However, the peak energy is determined by the magnet lattice characteristics rather than by the research purpose. This stimulated the development of radiation sources dedicated to the emission of light: insertion devices (ID). Insertion devices are installed in straight sections of the polygonal storage ring between the bending magnets. Electrons are forced to execute an oscillatory path in the plane of the storage ring by an insertion device which are composed of a set of magnets by which spatially alternating static magnetic fields are generated, as illustrated in Fig. 2.8.

There are two types of insertion devices: wigglers and undulators. They are distinguished by the degree to which the electrons are forced to deviate from a straight path. For angular excursions larger than the natural opening angle, the radiation cones from



Figure 2.8. An illustration of the radiation generated by a insertion device (ID). [34]



Figure 2.9. Wigglers and undulators in principle differ only in the size of the excursions from a straight path that electrons are forced to execute. The distinction has a fundamental effect on the nature of the radiation. The angular excursions shown here have been greatly exaggerated. [34]

each wiggling turn do not overlap and therefore the intensities are added and the insertion device is designated as a wiggler. In contrast, for gentler excursions, the radiation cones emitted by the electrons as they execute the slalom motion overlap and interfere with one another, and the insertion device is called an undulator. In this case, the field amplitudes are added vectorially (i.e. including the phase difference from each contribution) and the sum is squared to produce the intensity, which peaks at those wavelengths where interference is constructive. Figure 2.9 illustrates the distinction of wigglers and undulators. A dimensionless parameter K is utilized to define the distinction: $K \gg 1$ for a wiggler, while $K \ll 1$ for an undulator.

(2.10)
$$K = \frac{eB\lambda_{ID}}{2\pi m_0 c},$$

where B: magnetic field, λ_{ID} : period of oscillations, m_0 : electron rest mass.



Figure 2.10. Temporal structure and its emission spectrum counterpart for different types of radiation sources. Top: short pulse and broad emission band from a bending magnet. Middle: series of short pulses from a wiggler, again corresponding to a broad emission band. Bottom: longer pulse from an undulator and narrower bandwidth. [35]

A wiggler can be thought of as a series of bending magnets that turn the electrons alternately to the left and to the right. Thus, the emitted light is produced as a series of short pulses, in contrast to the single pulse from a bending magnet, as illustrated in Fig. 2.10. In contrast, an undulator radiates a single, long pulse. The beam size and angular spread of radiation is much lower than that from the bending magnet and wiggler. In addition, the spectral bandwidth is narrow and the sharp resonances happen at regular energy intervals, where the emissions at every magnet of the undulator are in phase. The spectrum can be adjusted via the magnetic field; in practice this is done by changing the undulator gap, the spacing between the poles of each magnet. Figure 2.10 illustrates the time structure and its emission spectrum counterpart for different types of radiation sources. Undulator radiation is unique in its intensity and brilliance, and it can be generated across the range of the electromagnetic spectrum: from infrared to visible light to x-rays.

The emitted peaks of the undulator radiation are:

(2.11)
$$first \ order: \quad h\nu_c \approx 2\gamma^2 (hc/\lambda_{ID})/(1+K^2/2),$$

(2.12)
$$nth \ order: \ h\nu_c \approx 2\gamma^2 (hnc/\lambda_{ID})/(1+K^2/2),$$

with bandwidth

(2.13)
$$\Delta h\nu/h\nu_c \approx 1/(nN)$$
, N: the number of periods in the undulator

The whole spectrum of the undulator radiation is designated as white beam and the first order harmonic of the undulator radiation is called pink beam.

2.3. Sector 7ID Beamline of APS Synchrotron

Beamline 7ID of the Advanced Photon Source (APS) is dedicated to time-resolved xray research. In the standard 24-bunch mode of APS, 24 electron bunches evenly spaced by 153 ns circulate the storage ring at a revolution frequency of 272 kHz and with a total current of 102 mA. X-ray pulses are produced at a high repetition rate of 6.52 MHz, as illustrated in Fig. 2.11. By taking advantage of the high repetition rate of



Figure 2.11. Temporal structure of APS synchrotron radiation in the standard 24-bunch mode.

the x-ray pulses in APS, a wide variety of time-resolved measurements are performed

by combining different laser systems in three dedicated experimental stations for timeresolved x-ray diffraction, spectroscopy, unfiltered white beam, and micro- and nano-focus techniques [41]. Figure 2.12 depicts the Sector 7ID beamline layout of APS.



Figure 2.12. Sector 7ID beamline layout of APS. WB stands for white beam; TR for time-resolved capability. [42]

A MOPA (Master Oscillator Power Amplifier) laser system which is a high repetition rate (54 kHz – 6.5 MHz), high power (>10 W) laser source, is built for laser-pump/xray-probe studies of optically driven molecular processes. The laser system is employed for the dynamic XES of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ in this project (refer to Section 7.2). Detailed information of this laser system is introduced here.

This high repetition rate laser is a customized commercial master oscillator power amplifier (Time-Bandwidth Products, Duetto) with a central wavelength of 1064 nm and a variable repetition frequency and pulse duration. The oscillator repetition frequency was customized to be 78.2 MHz. The laser is designed to operate at all submultiples of the oscillator frequency between 54 kHz and 6.52 MHz. The repetition frequency is selected by specifying the rate at which pulses from the oscillator train are picked for amplification. The AOM in Figure 2.13 works as the pulse picker. The system produces 10 W power at 54 kHz, corresponding to 185 μ J/pulse, and 16 W at 6.52 MHz, corresponding to 2.5 μ J/pulse. The laser can produce pulses with durations of either 10 ps FWHM or 130 ps FWHM. The 10 ps duration is useful for experiments requiring optical excitation of molecules [43]. The second and third harmonics of the laser, at 532 nm and 355 nm, are





Figure 2.13. Schematic of ultra-fast high-repetition-rate MOPA laser

generated by focusing the output into two lithium triborate nonlinear crystals (Newlight Photonics), as illustrated in Figure 2.13. The second harmonic is produced in a crystal with dimensions $5 \times 5 \times 15$ mm³ that is cut for Type I mixing and non-critical phase

matching. The third harmonic is produced by mixing the second harmonic light of 532 nm and the residual fundamental light of 1064 nm in another $5 \times 5 \times 15$ mm³ crystal that is cut for Type II mixing. Figure 2.14 summarizes the available power and pulse energy at the fundamental, second, and third harmonics in the 10 ps operational mode at different selected repetition rates. It shows that the higher repetition rate, the lower power and pulse energy. To make most use of the x-ray pulses, high repetition rates are preferred and the laser beam should be focused to a small spot size, such as 10 μ m, at samples to provide high enough intensity.

	54.3 kHz		135.8 kHz		3.25 MHz		6.52 MHz	
Wavelength	W	μJ	W	μJ	W	μ J	W	μJ
1064 nm	10	185	11.3	83	14.5	4.4	16	2.5
532 nm	7.0	130	8.9	66	10.6	3.3	9.5	1.5
355 nm	2.5	45	4.2	31	4.8	1.5	3.6	0.6

Figure 2.14. Duetto MOPA's available power and pulse energy at the fundamental, second, and third harmonics in the 10 ps operational mode at different selected repetition rates. [43]

Synchronization of the laser pulses of the Duetto MOPA with the x-ray pulses and control of the delay between the two is accomplished electronically. The oscillator cavity length is adjusted with a piezo-actuated cavity mirror mount to lock the oscillator pulse train repetition rate to the storage ring rf signal which has been down converted to 78.2 MHz from 352 MHz by an in-house built frequency divider that multiplies by 2 and then divides by 9. The trigger for the pulse picker (within the laser is also derived from the 352 MHz storage ring rf signal. After downconversion by the 2/9 frequency divider, the signal is sent to another frequency divider with a variable integer divisor value (Pulse Research Lab, PRL-260BNT) which is required to change the laser repetition frequency and does not disrupt the synchronization. Control of the laser delay with respect to the x-ray pulse on target is implemented in two parts. Coarse temporal delay is achieved through the selection of particular laser pulses within the oscillator pulse train for amplification. By adding a delay in the trigger signal using a delay generator (SRS, DG645), later pulses of the oscillator pulse train are selected. Since the oscillator repetition frequency is 78.2 MHz, this effectively leads to control of the laser delay in 12.8 ns steps. Control of the fine delay is achieved by shifting the phase of the rf reference signal. This effectively shifts the oscillator pulse train in time. A programmable delay line (Gigabaudics, PADL3-5-12-15355) shifts the reference signal in steps of 5 ps, with a range of 15 ns [43].

For a fast liquid jet sample with a 25 mL/min flow rate, it takes around 320 ns to pass a 10 μ m measurement area. In this case, the temporal spacing between laser pulses should be larger than 320 ns; otherwise, the sample would be contaminated by prior laser pulses. Figure 2.15 depicts the temporal structure of laser-pump/x-ray-probe measurement in this project. One laser pulse appears every five x-ray pulses. An electronic gating system enable users to count and discriminate between consecutive x-ray pulses for data acquisition. The x-ray pulse right before a laser pulse is to probe the laser off condition; the x-ray pulse after the laser off gate is to probe the laser-excited process.



Figure 2.15. Temporal structure for laser-pump/x-ray-probe measurement

CHAPTER 3

X-ray Emission Spectroscopy

X-ray emission spectroscopy (XES) involves the excitation of a core electron and the spectrum measurement of the fluorescence emitted ($\sim 10^{-15}$ s) in the relaxation process to fill the core hole. The emitted photons in the process have the energy equal to the difference between the original energy level of the relaxation electron and the core hole energy level.



Figure 3.1. XES energy diagram

Among the XES spectra, $K\alpha$ emission lines ($K\alpha_1$ and $K\alpha_2$) originate from the refilling of the 1s core hole from a 2p electron. The $K\beta$ mainline features ($K\beta_{1,3}$ and $K\beta'$) are from a 3p \rightarrow 1s transition and their intensities are approximately one order of magnitude smaller than $K\alpha$ emission lines. At the highest energy of the XES spectrum, a valence electron refilling the 1s core hole gives rise to valence-to-core (vtc) emission features (K $\beta_{2,5}$ and K β ") which correspond to transitions from ligand np and ns orbitals to the metal 1s respectively, illustrated in Figure 3.1, and are about two orders of magnitude weaker than K α emission lines [16]. XES can provide information about occupied orbitals and elucidate the geometric and electronic structure of the probed molecules. The following sections in this chapter will go into detailed characteristics of individual transition features as well as the spectrometer to capture the fluorescence signal.

3.1. K α and K β Mainlines

Among the XES spectra, $K\alpha$ (2p \rightarrow 1s) spectra are the most intense and split into two features: $K\alpha_1$ (2p_{3/2} \rightarrow 1s) and $K\alpha_2$ (2p_{1/2} \rightarrow 1s), owing to strong 2p core hole spin-orbit coupling [1] [14] [15]. Because of the small overlap of the wave functions of 2p and 3d



Figure 3.2. K α emission lines of iron compounds with spin states S = 5/2 (dotted line), 1/2 (solid line) and 0 (dashed line) respectively [14].
orbitals, K α emission features are not particularly chemically sensitive [1] [14] [16].

Figure 3.2 presents XES K α lines of ⁵⁵Fe₂O₃, K₃ ⁵⁵Fe(CN)₆ and K₄ ⁵⁵Fe(CN)₆. The nominal spin states of the three compounds are S = 5/2, 1/2 and 0 respectively and the spectral changes are not pronounced. The main advantage of using the K α emission line in some experiments is its high intensity, which makes it suitable to apply in the study of dilute samples. [14]

The $3p \rightarrow 1s$ transitions are approximately one order of magnitude smaller than $K\alpha$ emission lines. The proximity of the 3p orbitals to the 3d manifold imposes a strong influence of 3p-3d exchange interaction on the transitions. The 3p-3d exchange interaction results in a large splitting between final states depending on the unpaired 3p electron with spin parallel or antiparallel to the 3d electrons. Those states of parallel spin compose an intense $K\beta_{1,3}$ peak while those with antiparallel constitute a less intense $K\beta'$ peak at a lower energy. Figure 3.3 illustrates the splitting caused by the 3p-3d exchange interaction.



Figure 3.3. K β mainline splitting owing to the 3p-3d exchange interaction [45]

Unlike 2p orbitals, the 3p hole spin-orbit coupling is weak and the splitting between the transitions from $3p_{3/2}$ (K β_1) and $3p_{1/2}$ (K β_3) is not resolvable to the intrinsic lifetime broadening [14] [15]. The whole $3p \rightarrow 1s$ emission features are referred to as K β mainlines and are sensitive to the local net spin state of 3d electrons. More exactly as the effective number of unpaired 3d electrons decreases, the energy splitting between the K $\beta_{1,3}$ peak and the K β' peak becomes smaller, the K $\beta_{1,3}$ shifts toward lower energy and the K β' reduces in intensity [14] [16] [17].



Figure 3.4. K β mainlines of iron compounds with spin states S = 5/2 (solid line), 1/2 (dashed line) and 0 (dotted line) respectively. The bottom plots are the corresponding simulations. [14]

Figure 3.4 shows XES K β mainlines of three compounds of which the nominal spin states are S = 5/2, 1/2 and 0 respectively. The compound with the highest spin state

exhibits two prominent features in the spectrum of which the strong $K\beta_{1,3}$ line is at high fluorescence energies. The $K\beta'$ feature of the compound with the highest spin state at lower fluorescence energies is due to the 3p-3d exchange interaction. The $K\beta_{1,3}$ and $K\beta'$ lines move towards each other with decreasing valence spin and thus smaller 3p-3d exchange interaction. For S = 0, the $K\beta'$ structure merges into other weak final states on the low energy side of $K\beta_{1,3}$. The inset of Fig. 3.4 shows the nominal valence spin state vs. the $K\beta_{1,3}$ first moment position with a linear fit [14]. In addition, the $K\beta_{1,3}$ peak is slightly asymmetric with a small shoulder on the low energy side. The shoulder arises



Figure 3.5. The shoulder on the low energy side of $K\beta_{1,3}$ peak originates from spin flips. The single left 1s electron and one of 3d electrons could flip together in response to the weak 1s-3d exchange interaction in ⁵S intermediate state. The scenario cannot happen in ⁷S intermediate state, because it will violat spin selection rules [1].

from spin flips [1] [49] [50], illustrated in Fig. 3.5. As a core hole is created in the 1s

orbital, the single left 1s electron and one of 3d electrons could flip together in response to the weak exchange interaction of the 1s electron with 3d electrons.

The characteristics of $K\beta$ mainlines connected to spin states or oxidation states of various transition metal complexes have been quantitatively investigated [14] [18]. The sensitivity to valence spin and oxidation states has been exploited to study metal-ligand covalency [16] [19], cation site occupation [20] and spin-crossover compounds [21].

3.2. Valence-to-Core Features

To the highest energy, slightly below the K-edge, are the valence-to-core (vtc) XES features which are attributed to molecular orbitals that are mainly localized on the ligands but have some metal p-symmetry character. The vtc XES spectrum is about 50 - 100 times weaker than the $K\beta_{1,3}$ line and can be divided into two regions: $K\beta_{2,5}$ (metal and ligand p character \rightarrow metal 1s) and $K\beta$ " (ligand s \rightarrow metal 1s) [1] [2] [14] [16]. This $K\beta_{2,5}$ region is sensitive to changes in the valence orbitals and provides rich information about the nature of the chemical bonds between metal atoms and ligands. The $K\beta$ " feature originates from molecular orbitals with ligand s type character. The transition energy of the $K\beta$ " feature is related to the binding energies of the ligand electrons and is valuable for ligand identification. It provides powerful information to distinguish between C, N, O, and F ligands and the degree of ligand protonation, i.e. O vs OH [5] [22] [23] [24] [25] [26] [27]. Furthermore, there is a strong dependence of the $K\beta$ " intensity on the metal ligand distance.

Figure 3.6 exhibits how $K\beta$ " is strongly sensitive to both ligand species and the metal ligand distance in particular for N, O and F. The top plots show $K\beta$ " and $K\beta_{2,5}$ features



Figure 3.6. XES vtc features distinguish ligand identity and bond length [14] [22].

of Mn complexes with F, O and N ligation. The relative shifts between the $K\beta$ " and $K\beta_{2,5}$ fluorescence energies for different ligands correspond mainly to the differences in 2s binding energies of the atomic species. The bottom plots are normalized vtc spectra of manganese oxides with different Mn - O distances. The inset shows normalized intensities of $K\beta$ " as a function of Mn - O distance and an approximately exponential dependence can be observed over two orders of magnitude [1] [14] [22] [28].

If the spectral variation of the bottom or inset plots happens in a single molecule at different time points, it will be an example to exploit time-resolved vtc XES to characterize the evolution of the bond length in a process.

Unlike $K\alpha$ and $K\beta$ mainline features, vtc XES spectra offer direct information on occupied valence orbitals and is emerging as a powerful tool for various research fields, such as bioinorganic chemistry [16] [29] and environmental science [2] [30].

3.3. Spectrometers for XES

In the hard x-ray regime, high-energy-resolution x-ray detection schemes are based on the diffraction of x-rays over crystallographic planes as expressed with the simple Bragg equation:

$$(3.1) n\lambda = 2d\sin\theta$$

where d is the lattice constant, θ is the Bragg angle, n is the diffraction order and λ is the wavelength of the x-ray. This formula indicates that an x-ray of a given energy is diffracted at a given angle and vice versa [1].

XES spectrometers usually utilize bent crystals to analyze the fluorescence. Two different approaches are usually employed: scanning Johann spectrometers and dispersive von Hamos spectrometers, depicted in figure 3.7.

In a scanning Johann spectrometer, a point-to-point focus scheme is employed where a spherically bent crystals are placed in a Rowland circle along with the sample and a detector. The fluorescence from the sample impinges on the crystal analyzer and is diffracted by the spherically bent analyzer and focused at the detector. The approach can



Figure 3.7. Two different approaches are usually employed for high resolution x-ray emission spectrometers: scanning Johann spectrometers (left) and dispersive von Hamos spectrometers (right). [47]

only detect a single emission energy at a time. Therefore, to cover a full emission spectrum, the position and angle of the analyzer, as well as the position and angle of the detector must be synchronously scanned. The primary advantage of scanning spectrometers is its capability to collect a large solid angle at a single emission energy resulting in a higher photon flux per energy unit, or equivalently, a better signal-to-background ratio, compared with the other design.

In von Hamos spectrometers the fluorescence is diffracted by a cylindrically-bent crystal analyzer which focuses the fluorescence in one dimension and spatially separates the different energies in the other. The different x-ray energies are detected by position sensitive detectors, and the spatial dimension can be converted to an emission energy scale by appropriate calibration. This scheme is capable of detecting a large range of fluorescence energies simultaneously, making it particularly applicable in a time-resolved measurement [47].

CHAPTER 4

Beamline Layout and X-ray Optical Apparatus

Undulator radiation consists of a series of harmonics (refer to Section 2.2). The full harmonics out of an undulator is designated as white beam of which the first harmonic is described as pink beam. Pink beam has a broader bandwidth ($\Delta E/E \sim 10^{-2}$) than mono beam ($\Delta E/E \sim 10^{-6}$), and therefore provides more flux. As a result, it is desirable to employ pink beam for vacancy creation for nonresonant XES, especially for time-resolved vtc XES, since the line widths and shapes of nonresonant XES are not affected by the large bandwidth of pink beam for ionization.

The 7ID beamline at the APS is equipped with a standard undulator A (3.3 cm period) whose first harmonic radiation can in practice be tuned from about 5 keV to 13 keV. The energy range is desirable to the K-edges of all 3d transition metals as well as the L-edges of lanthanides and 5d transition metals. The white beam power of the undulator radiation can easily go up to 1kW. Therefore, it is necessary to reject high harmonics from the undulator output to reduce the heat load on x-ray optics, as well as avoid any unwanted excitation or process. Here, high harmonics rejection is achieved with a water-cooled flat mirror which is made up of a single-layer 10 nm rhodium deposited on a flat silicon substrate. On the other hand, the pink beam needs to be focused to around 10 μ m vertically to fit the refresh rate of samples in a vertical liquid jet (refer to Section 2.3 and Chapter 7). Beryllium compound refractive lenses (CRL) are employed to implement focusing.

Both of the harmonic rejection mirror and the focusing CRL exploit the index of refraction in x-ray regime [54]:

$$(4.1) n = 1 - \delta + i\beta$$

The refractive index decrement δ describes the strength of refraction with respect to vacuum and is responsible for dispersion. It has a positive value of the order 10^{-6} owing to the weak interaction of x-ray with matter and the super small value of δ indicates that it is non-trivial to bend a x-ray beam by means of refraction. The imaginary part β is linked to absorption and is smaller than δ by two or three orders of magnitude. The real part $(1 - \delta)$ of the index of refraction in material is very close to and smaller than that in vacuum. This property results in the phenomena of total external reflection from material as a x-ray beam grazes the surface at very shallow angles θ smaller than the critical angle θ_c . From Snell's law,

(4.2)
$$\sin \theta_c \approx \sqrt{2\delta}$$

In this project, XES of Fe complexes is demonstrated with the micro-focused pink beam (details in Section 7.2). Accordingly the beamline apparatus is designed to optimize the capability to ionize a 1s core electron of the iron atom of the coordination compounds. The K-edge of iron is around 7.1 keV but the pink beam peak is set at 8 keV for nonresonant XES to make use most of the pink beam flux. Figure 4.1 presents the beamline layout in which the main slit is set to an opening of 0.6mm x 0.6mm and located 26.5 m from the undulator x-ray radiation. The 7-stack beryllium CRL of 200 μ m radius of curvature are set 35.5 m from the undulator. The harmonic rejection mirror is 0.65 m



Figure 4.1. The beamline layout for focused pink beam and the beam profile simulation with McXtrace. The apparatus from right to left: (a) APS Undulator A (3.3 cm period), (b) main beam defining slit (0.6 x 0.6 mm), (c) harmonic rejection mirror, (d) CRL, (e) HPLC-backed liquid jet sample, (f) crystal of von Hamos spectrometer, and (g) Pilatus 100K detector. The green line through the sample represents an optical laser beam. The beam profiles are simulations by ray-tracing software McXtrace. (The in focus image size is 0.1 x 0.1 mm; others are 1.0 x 1.0 mm.)

upstream to the CRL. The sample is placed at the focal distance of 2.955 m to the CRL. The mirror is inserted in a horizontal deflection configuration chosen to simplify the technical implementation. Since the CRL are installed on axis, the horizontal deflection keeps the beam at the same height at the focus point, making it easy to position the interaction point. According to the simulations a $774\mu \text{m} \ge 493\mu \text{m}$ FWHM beam profile right before the CRL and a focused $46\mu \text{m} \ge 8\mu \text{m}$ FWHM beam profile at 2.955m focal distance are predicted. Except for the samples, all of the apparatus are connected with long nipples

or soft bellows and are kept in vacuum of better than 6 x 10^{-5} Torr. A water-cooled 25 μ m thick beryllium window is installed 20 cm before the sample to separate the vacuum condition from the liquid jet sample.

In the two sections of this chapter, we discuss the details of the harmonic rejection mirror as well as the focusing CRL.

4.1. Design of Harmonic Rejection Mirror

The harmonic rejection mirror harnesses total external reflection from material to reflect only the selected energy. In addition, the larger grazing angle, the bigger slit opening allowed. And the bigger slit opening, the more flux. As a result, material with a larger critical angle θ_c is preferred. In practice, a layer of proper material can be deposited on a substrate for a larger grazing angle and a proper thickness of the deposit is chosen to make destructive interference for high harmonic rejection.

I did a series of simulations, with CXRO online calculation tool, for various thicknesses and materials deposited on a flat silicon (Si) substrate to determine the deposit material, its thickness and the grazing angle. The results show that 10 nm rhodium (Rh) is a good choice. Figure 4.2 presents the reflectivity of the selected 10 nm thickness. The deep dips shown on 2nd and 3rd harmonics (16 keV and 24 keV) and high reflectivity of the fundamental harmonic (8 keV) at 6 mrad grazing angle indicate that the high harmonics can be effectively rejected while more than 80% of the fundamental harmonic is reflected by the mirror at this grazing angle.

Rh has a larger critical angle ($\theta_c \approx 4.2 \text{ mrad}$) than Si ($\theta_c \approx 3.5 \text{ mrad}$) for 8 keV and therefore the Rh deposit improves the reflectivity of the fundamental harmonic. In



Figure 4.2. The reflectivity of the selected 10 nm Rh deposited on a Si substrate. The 6 mrad grazing angle can reflect 8 keV x-rays and effectively reject 16 keV and 24 keV x-rays.

addition, neither the K-edge ($\sim 23 \text{ keV}$) nor the L-edge ($\sim 3 \text{ keV}$) of Rh is in the range of K-edges of 3d transition metals (5 keV – 10 keV), and therefore this mirror is applicable to experiments of any 3d transition metal. It is a benefit of Rh.

I made use of a software package XOP [51] [52] to simulate the white beam spectrum of the APS Undulator A out of a 600 x 600 μ m slit, shown in the left panels of Fig. 4.3. The 2nd (16 keV), 3rd (24 keV) harmonics are around one order of amplitude smaller than the first harmonic (8 keV). The mirror's reflective properties are presented in the middle panels of Fig. 4.3. According to the simulation, high reflectivity of 84% for the first harmonic at 8 keV and strong harmonic rejection (2.8×10^{-3} for the second harmonic at 16 keV and 5.4×10^{-4} for the third harmonic at 24 keV) are expected. Based on our available



Figure 4.3. Calculations of the the harmonic rejection mirror are shown in logarithmic (upper row) and linear (lower row) scales. Left: Spectrum simulation out of APS Undulator A through a 0.6mm x 0.6mm main slit (1st harmonic peak set at 8 keV); Middle: Reflectivity of a single 10 nm layer of Rh deposited on a silicon substrate with 6 mrad (0.34°) grazing angle. Two clear dips occur at 16 keV and 24 keV while high reflectivity of 0.84 at 8 keV is provided. Right: Reflected spectrum by the mirror. The first harmonic retains enormous flux while the high harmonics are 2 or 3 orders of magnitudes smaller than the first harmonic.

silicon substrate (150 mm long, 35 mm wide and 30 mm high), the full beam coming from the white beam slits (set at 600 x 600 μ m) is easily accommodated with the 6 mrad grazing incidence angle. The right panels of Fig. 4.3 exhibits the calculation results of the undulator radiation spectrum multiplied by the reflectivity of the harmonic rejection mirror, namely the simulation of the radiation spectrum reflected from the harmonic rejection mirror and impinging on the CRL. In the reflected beam the first harmonic retains enormous flux while high harmonics are 2 or 3 orders of magnitudes smaller than the first harmonic.



Figure 4.4. Heat load simulation shows that water cooling from the bottom of the substrate is able to maintain a smoother temperature variation and a smaller slope error along the substrate length.

Another concern about the harmonic rejection mirror is the deformation due to heat load. Our simulations of temperature distribution and substrate deformation, with and without water cooling of the substrate, demonstrates the necessity of active cooling. It also shows that water cooling from the bottom is better than from the sides of the substrate in terms of maintaining a smoother temperature variation and a smaller slope error along the substrate length. Figure 4.4 presents the simulation results of water cooling. With the water cooling from the bottom, the maximum height difference is around 0.2 μ m. Slope error is zero around the central area and increases to 10 μ rad at the two ends. The temperature could be kept lower than 36.4 °C.



Figure 4.5. The design and pictures of the water-cooled copper heat sink for the harmonic rejection mirror. (a) three copper blocks constitute the heat sink. (dimensions of the whole heat sink assembly: 184 mm x 80 mm x 65 mm) (b) grooves on the bottom side of the top block. (c) mirror mounted on the heat sink. A piece of 0.1 mm indium foil was sandwiched between them to improve the thermal conductivity. (d) vacuum chamber for the mirror. The copper heat sink assembly is installed to the chamber and also functions as one of the chamber's walls. (e) the mirror apparatus was installed in the beamline. Two Swagelok connections are installed on through holes connecting hoses to circulate cooling water.

Based on the simulation results, I designed and built a water-cooled copper heat sink for the mirror. The heat sink is assembled with three pieces of copper blocks, as shown in Fig. 4.5. The middle and bottom pieces have only two through holes on each. It is designed to have the mirror substrate mounted on the top surface of the top piece which has grooves of 5 mm wide and 4.2 mm deep on the other side. The top surface is 8 mm away from the grooves. The three blocks are brazed together. Therefore, the through holes and the grooves constitute a water channel for the cooling water to flow inside the heat sink. The cooling water was circulated by a chiller Thermo Scientific SC100, and the temperature was set at 20 °C. The copper heat sink also functions as one of vacuum chamber's walls. This design facilitates the installation of the whole assembly of the mirror and the heat sink to the vacuum chamber. During the experiment, the vacuum condition was kept better than 6×10^{-5} Torr.

4.2. X-ray Beam Focusing with Compound Refractive Lenses (CRL)

The characteristics of element specificity and high penetration make hard x-ray unique in electromagnetic wave and able to directly probe and characterize active sites of metalloenzymes. In addition, this advantage combining its extreme short wavelength which benefits spatial resolution inspires the development of x-ray microscopy. Furthermore, the hard x-ray wavelengths of 2 Å to 0.05 Å are in the range of characteristic interatomic distances, such as of condensed matter. It is the foundation of x-ray crystallography. For all of the intriguing x-ray techniques mentioned above, i.e., micro probing, microscopy, and micro diffraction, its development counts on the capability to effectively focus x-ray beams.

For visible light, the most common focusing device is the conventional convex lens by means of refraction of light. In contrast, the design of an instrument to focus x-ray beam is fairly different. It stems from the super small value (10^{-6}) of δ in the index of refraction $n = 1 - \delta + i\beta$ in x-ray regime and therefore bending x-ray beam by means of refraction is not an effective approach. The focal length will be impractical long or most of beam power definitely will be absorbed by a large number of refractive lenses. Therefore, it is typically to employ reflective optics to bend and focus x-ray beams. With a proper curvature design, reflective x-ray optics can effectively focus a x-ray beam. Various x-ray instruments based on reflection have been designed and demonstrated for different applications, such as a Kirkpatrick-Baez mirror (KB mirror) [55] and a Wolter telescope [56]. However, this kind of instrument is typically super expensive, and permanently installed at a beamline, so it is not always applicable to some conditions of experiment.

In recent years with advancement of machining lenses out of light materials (e.g., Li, Be, B, C), refractive lenses for x-ray become feasible. Light materials are beneficial for minimizing power loss due to absorption by lenses because β of index of refraction is ~ Z^3/E^3 where Z is atomic number and E is the x-ray energy. The refractive lens for x-ray has a concave shape because the real part of the index of refraction in lenses is smaller than one in x-ray regime (illustrated in the upper right panel of Fig. 4.6), unlike the conventional convex focusing lens in which the index of refraction is larger than one for visible light.

A single piece of refractive lens usually is not capable of effectively focusing a x-ray beam owing to the extreme small value of δ in the index of refraction (i.e., weak interaction of x-ray with matter). As a result, stacking a few number of lenses in a row is required to focus x-rays and is designated as Compound Refractive Lenses (CRL), as illustrated in the lower right panel of Fig. 4.6. CRL has focal length

$$(4.3) f \approx R/2\delta N$$



Figure 4.6. Left: Attenuation of X-rays in different lens materials, i.e., Be, Al, and Ni. Upper right: Model of a biconcave refractive lens with a parabolic profile. One quadrant has been removed in order to show the lens profile. Lower right: By stacking many individual lenses in a row to form a compound refractive lens (CRL). [60]

where R is the radius of curvature, N is the number of lenses, and δ is the index of refraction decrement.

Figure 4.7 summarizes the properties of materials for x-ray lenses. Among light materials, beryllium (Be) is a good choice as far as handling, manufacturing processes and accessibility is concerned. In addition, metal material has the big advantage of avoiding radiation damage and providing good heat conductivity. The left panel in Fig. 4.6 is the attenuation of x-rays in different lens materials [**60**]. In the plot, μ is the total absorption coefficient of the material in Lambert-Beer's law

$$(4.4) I = I_0 e^{-\mu d}$$

Material	z	Machining and handling
Lithium (Li)	3	Kept in an oxygen and water free environment
Beryllium (Be)	4	Toxic. Hard and brittle at room temperature. Pressing possible above 800 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
Boron (B)	5	Very hard for machining
Diamond (C)	6	Expensive
Sodium (Na)	11	Kept in an oxygen and water free environment
Magnesium (Mg)	12	Brittle at room temperature. Pressing possible around 400 °C
Aluminum (Al)	13	Very good shaping by pressing

Figure 4.7. Properties of materials for x-ray lenses

where I_0 is the primary intensity and I is the attenuated intensity behind the material thickness d. The linear total absorption coefficient μ is the sum of the attenuation coefficients for photoelectric absorption τ , elastic (Rayleigh) scattering σ_R , inelastic (Compton) scattering σ_C , and pair production σ_{Pair} (for energy exceeds 2 $m_0 C^2 \simeq 1.022$ MeV, refer to Section 2.1)

(4.5)
$$\mu = \tau + \sigma_R + \sigma_C + (\sigma_{Pair})$$

The power-law behavior due to photoelectric absorption is limited by Compton scattering which becomes dominant at higher energies and contributes strong background radiation. As a result, lenses should be operated in the energy range to the left of the respective knee. The lenses can be used in a very wide energy range from about 2 keV to about 150 keV. In short, beryllium is the material of choice up to about 40 keV. Roughly from 40 to 80 keV, aluminum is more appropriate. Beyond these energies, nickel is used. In addition, experience has shown that beryllium lenses are able to withstand both the white beam of an undulator and the intense beam of a x-ray free-electron laser.

I did a series of simulations to optimize the design of our experimental setup by means of a Monte Carlo, ray-tracing software — McXtrace [62]. The goal is to reach a compromise between flux, spot size and working distance, considering the available motorized tables in the 7ID-B hutch, while being able to cover the energy range of the first harmonic radiation of APS Undulator A, i.e., from 5 keV to 13 keV. A smaller radius of curvature makes a lens of more focusing power, but it reduces the acceptance as well. However, since I mean to grossly compensate for the chromaticity by adding or removing a number of lenses, lenses with too small radius of curvature do not provide fine enough adjustments. I figured out the best compromise to be given by lenses with 200 μ m radius of curvature.



Figure 4.8. Simulations for different numbers of lenses of 200 μ m radius of curvature to focus 8 keV pink beam.

Figure 4.8, one of a series of simulations, shows the result of different numbers of lenses with 8 keV pink beam. The x-ray beam out of an undulator has elliptical shape with a horizontal major axis (refer to Section 2.2). In addition, it has larger beam divergence in horizontal than in vertical. As a result, the focused beam has an elliptical shape and the focal distance of horizontal is longer than that of vertical. The simulations predicted that CRL easily produce a vertical focus of around 10 μ m FWHM, but that adding more lenses does not lead to further decrease in the spot size as chromatic aberration dominates. While adding lenses slightly decreases the horizontal spot size, the increased absorption reduces the available flux.

Based on a series of simulations of different combinations of lens quantities and pink beam energy, I eventually found that a working distance around 3 meters between the lenses and the focus is a good choice in terms of the spatial arrangement of the 7ID-B hutch and the flexibility to focus pink beams of different energy. With a focal distance of around 3 meters, I can use 5 lenses for about 5 keV, 7 lenses for about 8 kev, and 10 lenses for about 10 keV, with very similar focusing properties. For energy between 10 and 13 keV, it is necessary to replace one or two of the lenses of 200 μ m radius of curvature with more-focusing-power 100 μ m radius lenses to keep the same focal distance around 3 meters.

The lenses employed in this project are biconcave with rotationally parabolic profiles [58] [57]. Figure 4.9 exhibits the beryllium CRL of 200 μ m radius of curvature purchased from RXOPTICS [59].

A motorized lens stage from JJ X-Ray [61] was employed for this project, and I designed and built an copper adapter for 2D-focusing parabolic lenses to fit the lens holder of the stage, shown in Fig. 4.10. The adapter fits the CRL and the water-cooled lens holder very well to guarantee good thermal conductivity to dissipate heat out of



Figure 4.9. Beryllium CRL of 200 μ m radius of curvature purchased from RXOPTICS [59]. The two pieces of the right end are Cu-Al-Ni alloy pinholes to reduce scattered radiation.



Figure 4.10. The arrangement in the adapter cube, from right to left (downstream), is 0.8 mm pinhole, two 2 mm thick copper spacers, 7-stack beryllium CRL, 1 mm thick copper spacer, 1.0 mm pinhole, and 1 mm thick copper spacer.



Figure 4.11. The water-cooled holder and the adapter to install round lenses to a rectangular slot. The adapter fits the CRL and the water-cooled lens holder very well to guarantee good thermal conductivity to dissipate heat out of CRL.

CRL, as shown in Figure 4.11. The arrangement in the adapter cube, from right to left (downstream wards), is 0.8 mm pinhole, two 2 mm thick copper spacers, 7-stack beryllium CRL, 1 mm thick copper spacer, 1.0 mm pinhole, and 1 mm thick copper spacer. The pinholes are made of Cu-Al-Ni alloy. The main purpose of installing pinholes at both ends of the lens stack to limit the incoming beam size and to reduce scattered radiation. In addition, the edge of the front pinhole facilitates to center and align the beam with CRL.



Figure 4.12. The motorized CRL stage.

All of the copper spacers have a 1.4 mm diameter aperture in the middle and are meant to improve the heat dissipation to the water-cooled lens stage.

A quick estimate shows that about half of the pink beam power is going to be absorbed in the lens stack, implying the necessity of water cooling. The water-cooled lens stage can provide two lateral translation movements as well as yaw and pitch rotational movement, shown in Fig. 4.12. The cooling water in the lens stage was circulated by the same chiller model Thermo Scientific SC100, and the temperature was set at 20 °C. The temperature



Figure 4.13. 8 keV pink beam sizes at different distances focused by 7-stack CRL of 200 μ m out of a 600 x 600 μ m main slit. The designed focal distance is 2.955 m where the simulated beam size is around 40 μ m x 12 μ m. The measurement result of the focused beam size at 2.955 m is about 47.5 μ m x 13 μ m by means of scintillator imaging. The vertical simulations are consistent with the measurement results very well.

went up to 150 °C as pink beam struck the CRL. The vacuum pressure of the lens stage went up from 4.4×10^{-5} to 8.5×10^{-5} Torr as the pink beam passed through the CRL.

Figure 4.13 exhibits the direct comparison of the measurement results with the simulations of pink beam sizes of 8 keV plotted versus the distance from the 7-stack CRL. The experimental measurement was accomplished by means of scintillator imaging (details in Section 5.1). The measurement was performed by moving the whole instrument set of scintillator imaging. Overall, the agreement is very satisfactory, especially in the vertical direction. However, the measurement in horizontal does fit with simulation very well. It is possible that the horizontal beam divergence for the simulation is larger than the reality. As the scintillator imaging set was moved to different places, the height and the alignment in vertical was consistent. However, it is difficult to keep the horizontal alignment consistent to high degree. It is another possibility is that the horizontal measurement did not agree with the simulation well.

Furthermore, the beam size measurements of the energy scan around 8 keV at the designed focal distance of 2.955 m also display a satisfactory result that the minimal focal spots appear around at 8 keV, as shown in Fig. 4.14. The measurement was performed by changing the undulator gap. During the pink beam beamtime, since the bandwidth is much broader than that of mono beam, an energy calibration cannot be performed. Therefore, pink beam energy can only rely on the undulator number, which comes from a table given a certain gap opening of the undulator.



Figure 4.14. The beam sizes of the energy scan around 8 keV at the designed focal distance of 2.955 m focused by 7-stack CLR of 200μ m out of a 600 x 600 μ m main slit. The experimental measurements are basically consistent with the simulations in terms of the minimal beam sizes and their energies: the horizontal minimum occurs at 7.95 keV with 36 μ m FWHM (simulation: 7.95 keV with 39 μ m) and the vertical minimum is at 8.1 keV with 10 μ m FWHM (simulation: 8.05 keV with 10 μ m).

CHAPTER 5

X-ray Beam Profile Measurement

Although the harmonic rejection mirror, CRL, and beryllium windows were equipped water-cooling systems, in order not to take the risk of any damage by high flux x-ray beam, a high heat load chopper was installed at upstream in the first place to attenuate the power of the incident beam to 1%. With the chopped beam, the harmonic rejection mirror, CRL, and beryllium windows were installed in position and oriented step by step. As all components were set up properly, the chopper was removed and the section was replaced with long nipple vacuum components. As the full x-ray beam started to be employed, a small opening of the main slit was used and gradually increased to assure that the heat dissipation efficiency of each apparatus was good enough to function normally in high x-ray flux.

As for the attenuated beam, in addition to preventing apparatus from any unexpected damage during installation and alignment, it was also a good condition to perform the beam profile measurement of the focused pink beam. We tried three different methods for beam profile measurement, including scintillator imaging, knife edge scan of different materials, and platinum 30- μ m-aperture pinhole scan. The scintillator imaging worked best among them in terms of showing fine structures and simplifying analysis process. The following sections present the measurement results of individual methods and their comparisons.

5.1. Scintillator Imaging

The scintillator imaging system was composed of a 10mm x 10mm x 0.15mm LYSO:Ce scintillator (Cerium doped Lutetium Yttrium Silicate) [65] [66] [67] [68] [69] from PRO-TEUS Inc., a mirror, a long working distance objective of X2 magnification (Mitutoyo), and a CCD camera (Prosilica 2450 GC) with 3.45 μ m pixels, shown in Fig. 5.1. In this



Figure 5.1. Schematic of scintillator imaging system.

imaging configuration, the x-ray beam illuminates the scintillator at normal incidence. The phosphorescent photons formed profile images on the scintillator and then a 45° mirror behind the scintillator reflected the emitted light to the CCD. The phosphorescent images were recorded by the combination of the objective and the CCD camera.



Figure 5.2. Gamma and X-ray absorption efficiency for various thicknesses of LYSO:Ce. [70]

Figure 5.2 presents the absorption efficiency for various thicknesses of LYSO:Ce scintillators. With 0.15 mm thickness, the absorption efficiency is nearly 100% at 8 keV. As excited by the radiation, the LYSO:Ce scintillator emits 420 nm photons [70].

Operation of the scintillator requires some caution regarding the heat load of the radiation that hits it. Much before causing obvious damage in the crystal, temperature rise in the crystal makes it lose scintillation efficiency, which translates into a saturation effect which can easily incorrectly increase the measured beam size.

Using sets of simple metal foil filters positioned before the scintillator imaging can effectively avoid the saturation condition. Aluminum is a good choice to attenuate the



Figure 5.3. Transmission of 25 μ m Cu plus 305 μ m Al

first harmonic radiation (8 keV) which is dominating the beam after the harmonic rejection mirror. However, there is still a large average flux in the second harmonic (refer to Section 4.1), which can influence any measurements. Therefore, adding another metal filter with a K-edge above the first harmonic makes it possible to study the contribution of the high harmonics. In this case, copper was utilized for high harmonic attenuation.

By combining filters (25 μ m thick copper plus 305 μ m thick aluminum) to get about 3 orders of magnitude attenuation in the first harmonic and 1 order of magnitude attenuation in the second harmonic (refer to Fig. 5.3), a strongly focused first harmonic spot as well as a loosely focused second harmonic spot can be observed on the scintillator image, as shown in the left image of Fig. 5.4.

Figure 5.4 presents the beam profile comparison before and after being focused by CRL. The left scintillator image shows that CRL focus a pink beam to a 47.5 μ m x



Figure 5.4. Comparison of beam profiles with and without being focused by CRL

13 μ m spot. The 600 μ m diameter pedestal around the focused spot comes from high harmonics, mainly 2nd and 3rd harmonics, and its intensity is about 2 orders of magnitude smaller than that of the focused pink beam. The beam profile structure demonstrates the chromaticity of CRL. The right scintillator image shows the pink beam profile reflected from the harmonic rejection mirror without being focused by CRL. The 1000 μ m wide square profile implies that there is no unwanted deformation on the harmonic rejection mirror and the beam divergence out of the 600 μ m x 600 μ m main slit. The square This scintillator imaging configuration worked well for beam profile measurement, especially in showing fine structure of a beam profile.

5.2. Pinhole Scan

Before the chopper was removed, we demonstrated the pinhole scan for the beam profile measurement. A platinum 30 μ m pinhole (Ted Pella, Inc. [71]) scanned in horizontal or vertical, and x-ray photons passing through the 30 μ m pinhole were detected by an ion chamber.



Figure 5.5. Schematic of an ion chamber

The ion chamber employed here consists of two conducting electrodes in a container filled with ambient air. A high voltage electric field between the electrodes is maintained by an external circuit. As a x-ray beam (ionizing radiation) passes through the chamber, it liberates electrons from the gas atoms leaving positively charged ions. The electric field sweeps the electrons going to the anode and the positive ions to the cathode. This generates an ionization current which reflects the relative amount of x-ray beam flux, as illustrated in Fig. 5.5.

Figure 5.6 presents the pinhole scan result compared to the scintillator imaging in the same condition in which the chopped beam was attenuated by 305 μ m Al plus 25 μ m Cu foil (refer to Fig. 5.3). The beam size measured by pinhole scan is 40 μ m x 10 μ m while



Figure 5.6. 30 μ m pinhole scan (left top: horizontal scan; left bottom: vertical scan) in comparison with the scintillator imaging (right) in the same condition.

the scintillator imaging shows a 47.5 μ m x 13 μ m focused beam spot with a very dim 600 μ m pedestal. The chopped beam exhibits a more clear beam profile structure in a scintillator image than a full beam of Fig. 5.4.

Figure 5.8 presents another comparison in which the chopped beam was attenuated with 230 μ m Al foil (refer to Fig. 5.7) and the high harmonics were not further attenuated by Cu or other metal foil. The pinhole scan measured the beam size of 44 μ m x 26 μ m while the scintillator imaging shows a 53 μ m x 90 μ m focused beam spot with a 600 μ m pedestal.

The data analysis of pinhole scan is done with a convolution of a 30 μ m circular area with a Gaussian profile whose parameters are to be determined. In other words,



Figure 5.7. Transmission rate of 230 μ m Al

this is a simplified model assuming a simple Gaussian profile in scanning direction and a constant distribution in the other direction. The size values from this analysis are definitely smaller than the reality. The real profile is a elliptical shape with a normal distribution in all directions. An advanced analysis with a sophisticated algorithm could approach the real value but it takes time to develop the codes. In addition, this 30 μ m pinhole is impracticable to reach high enough spatial resolution to distinguish pedestal structure from the focused peak.

In either condition in which high harmonics are attenuated by Cu foil or not, the scintillator imaging possess advantages over the 30 μ m pinhole scan in terms of being able to show fine profile structures and requiring much simpler analysis.



Figure 5.8. Another comparison of 30 μ m pinhole scans (left top: horizontal scan; left bottom: vertical scan) with the scintillator imaging (right).

5.3. Knife Edge Scan

The knife edge scan was also tested with two different materials, Cu and Si₃N₄, and then compared to scintillator imaging in the same condition in which the chopped beam was attenuated with 230 μ m Al foil (refer to Fig. 5.7). Figure 5.9 shows the transmission rates of two different knife materials. The Cu knife blocks over 1st, 2nd and 3rd harmonics; the Si₃N₄ knife reduces 1st harmonic by around two orders of magnitude and passes most of high harmonics.

Figure 5.10 presents the measurement and analysis results. The analysis is done with the convolution of a Heaviside step function with a Gaussian profile whose parameters are to be determined. The Cu knife edge got 184 μ m in horizontal; the Si₃N₄ knife edge scan


Figure 5.9. Transmission rates of two different materials (Left: Cu. Right: Si_3N_4) for knife edge scan

measured 435 μ m in horizontal and 365 μ m in vertical. Either of them is much larger than the results of scintillator imaging (44 μ m x 26 μ m). In a knife edge scan, both photons from focused pink beam and high harmonics in pedestal were integrated together. As a result, the fine focused structure cannot be distinguished from the pedestal in a knife scan. However, since Si₃N₄ attenuated only 1st harmonic by two orders, passing high harmonics, its measurement was close to the pedestal size.



Figure 5.10. Upper left: scintillator imaging in the same condition. Lower left: Cu knife scan in horizontal. Right: Si_3N_4 knife scan in vertical (upper right) and in horizontal (lower right).

CHAPTER 6

Coordination Compound

A transition metal complex is a central metal atom or ion surrounded by a set of ligands. A ligand is an ion or molecule that can have an independent existence. For instance, Ni(CO)₄ is a transition metal complex in which the Ni atom is surrounded by four CO ligands, as shown in Fig. 6.1. A coordination compound is a neutral transition metal complex or an ionic compound in which at least one of the ions is a transition metal complex [72]. In a typical covalent bond, each atom is considered to contribute one electron. However, both of the electrons come from a single atom in the bond between a metal and ligands in a transition metal complex. This type of bond is known as a dative covalent or a donor-acceptor bond. The atom which provides the two electrons is known as the donor; the other is the acceptor. In a transition metal complex, a metal is usually an acceptor and ligands are the donors [73].



Figure 6.1. $Ni(CO)_4$ transition metal complex [72]

Coordination compounds play a critical role in structural or catalytic functions of an organism's physiology. For instance, an estimated 30% of proteins contain transition metal complexes. In addition, catalysis is a major application of coordination compounds for the production of organic substances. For instance, a photocatalytic system consisting of a iron complex was investigated to demonstrate its function of catalyzing the conversion of methane to methanol [74].



Figure 6.2. Octahedral transition metal complex [72]

Element specificity and high penetration of x-rays make it a power probe for geometry and electronic structure information of transition metal complexes either by diffraction or spectroscopy. In this project, an octahedral complex $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ was employed to demonstrate the application of the pink beam XES in the charge transfer dynamics (refer to Section 7.2 for a full story). This chapter is dedicated to introduce the electronic structure of octahedral transition metal complexes and the unique characteristics of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$.

6.1. Octahedral Transition Metal Complex

The most common arrangement for six-coordination transition metal complexes is highly symmetric octahedral, as shown in Fig. 6.2 if we consider the ligands as represented by structureless points.



Figure 6.3. Splitting of d orbitals in octahedral transition metal complexes [75]

A ligand lone pair could be viewed as a point negative charge that repels electrons in the d orbitals of the central metal atom in an octahedral transition metal complex. Electrons in d_{z^2} and $d_{x^2-y^2}$ orbitals are concentrated close to the ligands, along the axes, whereas electrons in d_{xy} , d_{yz} , and d_{zx} orbitals are concentrated in regions that lie between the ligands, illustrated in Fig. 6.3. The former are repelled more strongly by the negative charge on the ligands than the latter and lie at a higher energy. As a result, the d orbitals split into two groups, called e_g and t_{2g} . This primitive theory which can explain the splitting of the d orbitals into two groups with different energies is called crystal field theory [75].



Figure 6.4. Molecular orbitals of octahedral transition metal complexes (σ bonding) [75]

A more sophisticated ligand field theory exploits molecular orbital theory to provide a more substantial framework to understand the origins of d orbital splitting. According to the space symmetry, the orbitals of the metal atom as well as the group orbitals of all the ligands can be categorized into different groups in a octahedral transition metal complex. In this theory, the e_g orbitals of the metal and ligands constitute e_g bonding and e_g^* antibonding molecular orbitals. The e_g bonding orbitals are occupied by electrons from donor atoms in the ligands. The electrons of d orbitals of the metal stay in the t_{2g} or e_g^* orbitals. The t_{2g} orbitals of the metal are nonbonding if only the σ bonding is taken into account. As a result, e_g^* antibonding molecular orbitals are higher than the nonbonding t_{2g} orbitals in a energy diagram, as shown in Fig. 6.4. (The meaning of these labels for molecular orbitals is: **a** denotes a nondegenerate orbital; **e** denotes a doubly degenerate orbital; **t** denotes a triply degenerate orbital. The orbital is designated **g** (for gerade, even) if it is identical under inversion, and **u** (for ungerade, odd) if it changes sign.)

Besides σ bonding in a octahetral transition metal complex, t_{2g} orbitals of the central metal can form π bonding with p orbitals of ligands. There are two different scenarios depending on ligands acting as π donors or acceptors. If ligands' donor electrons occupy and fill the π bonding molecular orbitals, the electrons originally in the d orbitals of the central metal atom occupy the t_{2g}^* antibonding orbitals which are closer in energy to the e_g^* orbitals. On the contrary, if ligands have π orbitals available for occupation, d electrons of the central metal atom can occupy the t_{2g} bonding orbitals, which increases the energy gap to the e_g^* orbitals for the d electrons, as illustrated in Fig. 6.5. In conclusion, the π bonding affects the splitting strength between e_g and t_{2g} orbitals in energy:

 π donor < weak π donor < no π effect < π acceptor.

According to Hunds rules:

For a given configuration, the term with the greatest multiplicity lies lowest in energy.
For a term of given multiplicity, the term with the greatest value of L lies lowest in energy.

The d electrons' spins tend to be parallel to one another to achieve the lowest energy configuration. However, the energy splitting between e_g and t_{2g} orbitals might be larger than the energy difference among the configurations of different multiplicities. To take d^6 complexes as an example, Fig. 6.6 depicts two different configurations based on the field



Figure 6.5. The effect of π bonding on the ligand field splitting. (Only the π orbitals of the ligand are shown) [75]

strength (the splitting strength). In the weak field the term energy of keeping greatest multiplicity is lower than that of all occupying the t_{2g} orbitals which results in the high spin state of the transition metal complex; the situation is opposite in a strong field and results in the low spin state.

Charge transfer (CT) transitions commonly happen in transition metal complexes. That is an electron migrates between orbitals that are predominantly of ligands in character and orbitals that are predominantly of the central metal in character. The transition is categorized as a ligand-to-metal charge-transfer transition (LMCT transition) if the migration of the electron is from the ligand to the metal, and as a metal-to-ligand charge-transfer transition (MLCT transition) for the opposite migration direction. Fig. 6.7 illustrates various CT transitions. LMCT is predominant if transition metal complexes



Figure 6.6. The effect of weak and strong ligand fields on the configuration of electrons for a d^6 complex. The former results in a high-spin configuration and the latter in a low-spin configuration [75]



Figure 6.7. Schematic of LMCT and MLCT transitions in transition metal complexes [75]

have ligands with relatively high-energy lone pairs (such as S or Se) or if the metal has low-lying empty orbitals. MLCT is most commonly observed in transition metal complexes with ligands having low-lying π^* orbitals. Either type of the transition is in the visible and UV range.

6.2. Spin Crossover and Fe^{II} Complex

Owing to the competition between ligand-field splitting and spin-pairing energies in transition metal complexes, some d electron configurations are at higher energy and spinforbidden to the ground state. The lowest energy configuration among them becomes metastable and takes much longer time to non-radiatively relax to the ground state configuration. The phenomenon is designated as spin crossover (SCO). The possible applications of SCO include molecular switches, data storage devices and optical displays. It offers advantages in the miniaturization of the components in information technology [77].

A large number of SCO transition metal complexes contain Fe^{II} in a 3d⁶ electron configuration and an octahedral coordination. Therefore, Fe^{II} octahedral transition metal complexes have been extensively investigated [78]. ${}^{1}\text{A}_{1}(\text{t}_{2g}^{6})$ is the low-spin (LS) ground state configuration; the lowest excited state ${}^{5}\text{T}_{2}(\text{t}_{2g}^{4}\text{e}_{g}^{2})$ is a high-spin (HS) metastable state, as illustrated in Fig. 6.8. The t_{2g} orbitals are basically nonbonding and e_{g} orbitals are anti-bonding. The metalligand bond length increases by as much as 0.1 Å per electron that is promoted from the t_{2g} to the e_{g} orbital. The transition metal complex can be excited to the ${}^{1}\text{MLCT}$ state and then relaxes to the ${}^{5}\text{T}_{2}$ (HS) state within 1 ps. Then it takes ~0.65 ns to ~150 ns to relax non-radiatively to the LS ground from the HS metastable state [80].



Figure 6.8. Schematic of d electron configurations and energy level of Fe^{II} octahedral complexes [80]



Figure 6.9. Ball-and-stick representation of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ complex [81]

Among the SCO transition metal complexes, the SCO process of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ can only be triggered by light. (For other SCO transition metal complexes, it could be a variation of temperature, pressure, an influence of a magnetic field or light irradiation.) Moreover, the HS state of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ relaxes nonradiatively to the LS ground state in less than 1 ns. (For other SCO materials, lifetimes of light-induced HS states at low temperatures can be hours.) As a result, $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ has become a model compound to investigate the light-triggered SCO transition process [**79**]. Figure 6.9 is the ball-and-stick representation of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$. In LS, the bond length is centered around 1.96 Å with a spread of ± 0.04 Å ; in HS, the bond length increases by 0.20 Å [**80**].

CHAPTER 7

XES Application for Charge Transfer Dynamics

Charge transfer (CT) between metal centers and ligands in transition metal complexes is one of the most studied subjects owing to its central role in applications, such as solar energy conversion and photocatalysis [82]. Owing to the inherent element specificity and high penetration of x-ray, it has been a powerful tool to probe the electronic and geometric structures of transition metal complexes. By combining the pink beam microprobe with the existing ultrafast laser at the 7ID beamline [43], we demonstrated the laser-pump/x-ray-probe scheme on the photoexcited $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ complex. In our experiment $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ was excited to a Metal-to-Ligand Charge Transfer (MLCT) state with laser pulses, then the pink beam was utilized to probe the evolution after the excitation by capturing the XES.

In the scheme of this project, the focused pink beam is for 1s electron ionization and the spectra of the emitted photons were measured by a scanning Johann spectrometer as well as a dispersive von Hamos spectrometer [2] [16] simultaneously, as shown in Fig. 7.1.

The scanning Johann spectrometer is composed of a 10 cm diameter Ge(440) crystal analyzer and an APD detector. Both of them are placed in a 1 m diameter Rowland circle along with the sample. The fluorescence from the sample impinges on the crystal analyzer and is diffracted by the spherically bent analyzer and focused at the position sensitive detector. It's a point-to-point focus scheme and can only measure a single emission energy at a time. In contrast, the dispersive von Hamos spectrometer can collect a full range



Figure 7.1. Spectrometer configuration

of K α and K β spectra. The primary advantage of a scanning Johann spectrometer is the capability to collect a large solid angle at a single fluorescence energy resulting in a higher photon flux (higher luminosity) per energy unit, or equivalently, a better signalto-background ratio. However, the positions and angles of the crystal analyzer and the detector of a scanning Johann spectrometer must be synchronously scanned to cover a full emission spectrum. It takes much more time than a dispersive von Hamos spectrometer and becomes impractical for a full range of time-resolved spectra of transient species. In practice, its big advantage of much higher luminosity was utilized to detect XES signals before the von Hamos spectrometer was employed to obtain a full emission spectrum. In addition, it was also used to measure the time evolution of the most intense K α_1 line to gain the lifetime information of the laser-excited state. Furthermore, the $K\alpha_1$ signal collected by the Johann spectrometer can work as a real-time reference for other emission lines measured by the von Hamos spectrometer, once the von Hamos spectrometer was engaged.



Figure 7.2. The full experiment setup in 7ID-B. The pink beam was reflected by a harmonic rejection mirror and focused by beryllium CRL at liquid jet samples with a 2.955 m focal distance. XES signals were acquired with Johann spectrometer and von Hamos spectrometer. High repetition rate MHz laser and harmonics generation provided photoexcitation capability. The beamline was in vacuum 20 cm before the liquid jet, and a water-cooled 25 μ m thick exit beryllium window separated vacuum and air. The vacuum pressure went up from 4.4 x 10⁻⁵ to 8.5 x 10⁻⁵ Torr as the x-ray beam was turned on mainly owing to the outgas of mirror copper heat sink and CRL.

The von Hamos spectrometer in this project is comprised of a Ge(440) crystal for K α , a Si(531) crystal for K β , and a position sensitive detector (PILATUS 100K, DECTRIS).

Both of the crystals are 25 mm wide, 100 mm high, and 250 mm radius of curvature. The emitted photons were diffracted by the cylindrically bent crystal analyzers which focus the fluorescence in one direction and spatially separates different energies in the other direction [16]. Then the fluorescence of different energies is detected by the position sensitive detector.

Once the focused pink beam was characterized with scintillator imaging (refer to Section 5.1), a few questions remained about its application to nonresonant XES. Can we collect an unperturbed XES spectrum from a liquid jet target with this very high x-ray average flux at MHz repetition rate? Is the harmonic rejection sufficient to make the high harmonics negligible for XES? Can we successfully transfer our established methods for time-resolved XES from the monochromatic case to the pink beam case? Can we efficiently collect complete time-resolved XES from low to moderate concentration solutes? In this chapter, all these questions will be answered.

7.1. Static XES of $[Fe^{II}(CN)_6]^{4-}$

We demonstrated our successful implementation with the static XES performance of our pink beam setup in comparison with published data on $[Fe^{II}(CN)_6]^{4-}$ (iron(II) hexacyanide) using monochromatic beam at 7.5 keV [83].

Figure 7.3 and Table 7.1 present the comparison of static XES of $[Fe^{II}(CN)_6]^{4-}$ 400 mM in water with pink beam and with mono beam [83]. The pink curves in Fig. 7.3 are the static XES with the focused pink beam and the data are collected for only 1 second. The data of mono beam are calculated to the corresponding results of the same measurement condition as that of pink beam, including data acquisition time, x-ray probe beam size



Figure 7.3. Comparison of static XES with pink beam and with mono beam. The pink curves are the static XES with the focused pink beam and the data are collected for only 1 second. The green curves are the corresponding results of the same conditions (Table 7.1) multiplied by different numbers to reach the magnitudes of XES with pink beam. From top to bottom are $K\alpha$, $K\beta$ mainline and vtc features. The signals of $K\alpha$ and $K\beta$ mainlines by focused pink beam are 1000 times bigger than those by mono beam and 800 times bigger for vtc signals.

and so on. The green curves are the corresponding results multiplied by different numbers to reach the magnitudes of pink beam XES. The top plot of Fig. 7.3 is $K\alpha$, the middle is

	Monochromatic Beam	Pink Beam			
sample	$[Fe^{II}(CN)_6]^{4-}$, 400 mM in water				
analyzer crystals	250 mm radius of curvature, cylindrically bent, Ge(440) (for K α) and Si(531) (for K β)				
jet thickness	200 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ flat jet @ 45°	130 $\mu {\rm m}$ cylindrical jet			
acquisition time	81 minutes	1 second			
x-ray spot size	$5~\mu{\rm m}\ge 5~\mu{\rm m}$	$40~\mu{\rm m} \ge 12~\mu{\rm m}$			
detector	Mythen (55 μ m pixels)	pixels) Pilatus 100K (172 μ m pixels)			

Table 7.1. Experimental conditions of static measurement

 $K\beta$ mainline and the bottom is vtc features. The spectrum shapes and the peak energy acquired with pink beam are nearly identical to those with mono beam which directly demonstrates that we can replicate previous results with much shorter acquisition time. Furthermore, the plots indicate that with the same condition the signal strength of $K\alpha$ and $K\beta$ mainlines by focused pink beam are 1000 times larger than those by mono beam and 800 times larger for vtc signals. The slightly lower signal strength for vtc may be due to a shortcoming in setup.

Furthermore, the magnification number can be adopted to estimate the flux of the pink beam available to probe the liquid jet sample. It has been previously determined that the flux of the mono beam is around $10^{12} - 10^{13}$ photons/second [43], and based on

this information we further estimate that the flux of the focused pink beam is around 10^{15} - 10^{16} photons/second.

On the other hand, a flux estimate on target can be made with the parameters selected from the simulated properties, taking into account the beryllium windows (totally 750 μ m thick) permanently installed on the 7ID beamline, the white beam slits opening, the harmonic rejection mirror reflectivity, the CRL absorption, as well as the short air path right before the interaction region. This air path is necessary to be able to insert laser optics when performing time-resolved pump-probe experiments. (Absorption by a water-cooled beryllium exit window (25 μ m thick) is ignored). Table 7.2 summarizes the calculations for the first three harmonics, with the first harmonic set at 8 keV. The estimate predicts that the flux of the focused pink beam is around 10¹⁵ photons/second. In conclusion, the measured enhancement in signal matches the simulation estimate.

Harmonic	Output of main slit 0.6x0.6mm (XOP)	Be windows 750 µm (CXRO)	Si Mirror 10 nm Rh coating (CXRO)	CRL 7-stack 200 µm (RXOPTICS)	Air path 20 cm (CXRO)	Available to liquid jet
1st (8 keV)	$8.8 \text{x} 10^{15}$ (11.0 W)	0.87	0.84	0.51	0.82	$2.7 \mathrm{x} 10^{15}$ (3.3 W)
$\begin{array}{c} 2nd \\ (16 \text{ keV}) \end{array}$	2.2×10^{15} (5.4 W)	0.97	$2.8 \text{x} 10^{-3}$	0.83	0.98	$\begin{array}{c} 4.8 \mathrm{x} 10^{12} \\ (11.7 \mathrm{\ mW}) \end{array}$
3rd (24 keV)	$\begin{array}{c} 1.3 \mathrm{x} 10^{15} \\ (5.0 \mathrm{\ W}) \end{array}$	0.98	$5.4 \text{x} 10^{-4}$	0.87	0.99	$6.0 \mathrm{x} 10^{11}$ (2.3 mW)

Table 7.2. Flux estimate

7.2. Time-resolved XES of Photoexcited $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$

In order to demonstrate the time-resolved XES with the established pink beam as well as its feasibility to efficiently collect complete time-resolved XES spectra from low to moderate concentration solutes, we chose to measure the transient XES spectra of photoexcited Iron(II) Tris(2, 2'-bipyridine), ($[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$), capturing the spectroscopic properties of the high spin state following optical excitation and comparing results to our previous studies [4] [84]. This prototypical transition metal complex has been extensively studied.



Figure 7.4. Schematic of photoinduced process of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ [79]

The schematic of the photoinduced process of $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ is shown in Fig. 7.4. In this process, after pumping to a MLCT (Metal to Ligand Charge Transfer) band from its low spin singlet state, it quickly (~ 100 fs) evolves into a high spin quintet excited state. A 355nm laser photon source which is within the energy range to excite the transition metal complex to the MLCT band, is available in the 7ID beamline. In addition, we used a solution of acetonitrile, where the high spin state had been characterized with a lifetime of 960 ps [85]. Another big advantage is that this transition metal complex has been shown to be especially robust to both optical and x-ray exposure, and yields high excitation fractions and thus large XES difference signals. All the characteristics make it an excellent test sample for our setup.



Figure 7.5. Schematic illustration of the LS \leftrightarrow HS transition in Fe^{II} complexes with $3d^6$ electron configuration. [86]

As the transition form LS to HS happens, two of the six Fe 3d electrons originally residing in the nonbonding t_{2g} orbitals now populate antibonding e_g^* orbitals, as illustrated in Figure 7.5 [4] [86]. This transition causes the elongation of the Fe-ligand bonds, diminishes orbital overlap and results in a destabilization of the MOs.

The pink beam x-ray microprobe was operating at a repetition rate of 6.5 MHz (153 ns interbunch spacing) in a standard 24-bunch operating mode (refer to Section 2.3). The 355 nm laser pumping source was generated by frequency tripling our high repetition rate 10 ps-duration laser (Duetto, Lumentum). The laser was synchronized to the storage ring rf signal, and the laser repetition rate was set at 1.3 MHz, i.e. each laser pulse can be overlapped with every 5th x-ray pulse.

In order to match the laser spot shape and size to the 40 μ m x 12 μ m FWHM x-ray spot measured previously, we positioned a cylindrical lenses telescope (f = -50mm and f = +150mm) before our spherical focusing lens (f = +300mm). The arrangement is shown in the Figure 7.6. The laser and the x-ray beam crossed with a small (~ 5 degrees) angle. By expanding the beam in the vertical direction before the lens, we were able to produce a 50 μ m x 17 μ m FWHM elliptical beam profile at the sample position. This is slightly larger than the x-ray beam, which should ensure that only excited regions of the target are probed, as shown in the Figure 7.7. A total laser power of about 2 W on target was used in this experiment.

In addition, this laser spot size is small enough that operating our liquid jet target at 25 m/s is sufficient to fully refresh the sample volume between laser shots. Although for $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ this is not a concern since the decay of the excited state is much faster than the laser pulses separation, this is very important in case of long lived or permanent photoproducts.

To spatially overlap the focused laser spot with the focused pink beam spot at the sample position, a 50 μ m diameter tantalum pinhole was placed in the sample position and scanned horizontally and vertically in the plane perpendicular to the pink beam



Figure 7.6. Schematic of laser beam spatially overlapped with pink beam at the sample position

propagation direction and the transmitted x-ray power was measured by a PIN diode. The pinhole was scanned to find the beam edges and then centered to the pink beam. And then the last mirror of the laser beam was adjusted to center the laser beam through the pinhole as the transmitted laser power was monitored by a power meter. Both beams were heavily attenuated to avoid damaging the detectors. For the x-ray beam, the attenuator was a multilayer of aluminum and copper foils. An attenuator comprised of a waveplate and polarizer was utilized to control and reduce the laser power delivered to the sample position.

After spatially overlapping the laser and the focused pink beam at the sample position, the pinhole was replaced by a GaAs MSM (Metal-Semiconductor-Metal) photodetector

1



Figure 7.7. The grey contour represents the normalized laser beam profile distribution; the colormap represents the normalized pink beam profile distribution. The 3D beam profiles indicate that the focused pink beam is spatially within the range of laser beam at the sample in different angle views, either vertical (upper right plot) or horizontal (lower right plot).

(Hamamatsu, G4176-03) to temporally overlap the laser and pink beam pulses. This GaAs MSM photodetector features ultrafast 30 ps response time for both rise and fall. The attenuated pink beam and the attenuated laser beam were shone on the MSM photodetector. Pulses from each beam were monitored with a 3.5 GHz, 40 GS/s digital oscilloscope (LeCroy, WavePro 735Zi) on a single trace. The signal amplitudes of each beam were tuned to be comparable on the oscilloscope. The delay of the laser pulses was adjusted electronically to have the laser pulses and pink beam pulses temporally overlapped to an estimated precision of ± 10 ps (refer to Section 2.3). The temporal overlap can then be optimized according to the XES signals. After the overlap work was done, the attenuator of the pink beam was removed. The sample was circulated by a HPLC pump with a flow rate of 25 mL/min through a 130 μ m diameter quartz nozzle to produce a cylindrical jet. Then the liquid jet was positioned at the intersection of the x-ray and laser beams, a 10 mM solution of $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ in acetonitrile was circulated and the K α emission signal was captured by the Johann spectrometer. The spectrometer was set at the peak of the K α_1 line, where signal is strongest, and also where the difference with the high spin state is maximized [84]. This signal can then be used for fine tweaks in the spatial overlap between the two beams, and to measure the lifetime of the HS (high spin) excited state.



Figure 7.8. The time evolution of the $K\alpha_1$ relative intensity of the laserexcited state of $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ 10 mM in acetonitrile with 20 ps resolution (green curves). The red curve is the fitting line with 910 ps lifetime.

Figure 7.8 presents the normalized difference between the laser-OFF (ground state) and laser-ON (ground state mixed with HS excited state) signals as a function of delay between the laser and the x-ray pulses. Within our time resolution, the formation of the

HS state is instantaneous, so we can fit this data with a simple kinetic model with single exponential decay and an instrument response function largely due to the x-ray pulse temporal profile (with a small contribution from the 10 ps laser pulse). Therefore, the IRF (instrument response function) is the convolution of a 10 ps FWHM Gaussian profile of the laser pulse and a 80 ps FWHM real profile of the x-ray pulse. The time evolution is fitted by an expression of the form

(7.1)
$$I(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H(t-y) e^{-(t-y)/\tau} IRF(y) \mathrm{d}y$$

where H is the Heaviside step function and τ stands for the lifetime of the HS state. We obtain a lifetime of 910 ps, in very good agreement with previous measurement of 960 ps [85]. For all subsequent measurements, we set the delay to 100 ps, corresponding to the maximum difference signal.

Then the full Fe K α and K β time-resolved XES was recorded by the von Hamos spectrometer and the gated Pilatus detector which recorded only either the laser OFF or the laser ON signal. Figure 7.9 presents the result. The top and the middle panels are K α lines and K β mainlines respectively. In each case, we plot the ground state and laser-excited signals, their difference, as well as the emission from a reference sample known to be in high spin state in its ground state ([Fe(phen)₂(NCS)₂]). The measured difference signal shape can then be directly compared to the difference between HS and LS states. The two peaks in K α (2p \rightarrow 1s) are K α_1 (2p_{3/2} \rightarrow 1s) and K α_2 (2p_{1/2} \rightarrow 1s). The unpaired 3d electrons cause tiny splitting within K α_1 and K α_2 emission lines owing to the weak (2p, 3d) exchange interaction. As a result, a broadening of the K α_1 and K α_2 lines is observed in HS. On the other hand, the strong (3p, 3d) exchange interaction



Figure 7.9. K α (top) and K β mainline (middle) XES spectra of [Fe(bpy)₃]²⁺ 10mM in acetonitrile and the analysis of the high spin (HS) state fraction γ of the laser-excited spectra by means of integrated absolute difference (IAD) [1] [21] [84] [87]. The blue lines denote the spectra of the [Fe(bpy)₃]²⁺ solution without laser excitation (ground state) and work as low spin (LS) reference as well; red lines denote the spectral variation. The high spin (HS) reference spectra were acquired on a powder sample of [Fe(phen)₂(NCS)₂], as shown in black dotted lines [84]. The black dashed lines indicate the differences of HS and LS reference spectra.

causes a clear blue shift of the $K\beta_{1,3}$ feature and an intensity transfer from $K\beta_{1,3}$ to the

 $K\beta'$ satellite in transition from LS to HS. Neither $K\alpha$ nor $K\beta$ mainline feature is directly sensitive to the valence electrons, but they reflect the spin state.

The difference signals can be used to quantitatively assess the fraction of high spin state molecules in the probed volume. To analyze the HS fraction γ of the laser-excited spectra, an approach called integrated absolute difference (IAD) is adopted [1] [21] [84] [87]. In this approach HS, LS and the laser-excited spectra are normalized to unit area at integration. The IAD value for the complete spin transition, referred to as IAD_{HL}, is calculated by taking the absolute values of the differences between HS and LS reference normalized spectra and integrating them. Through similar steps the IAD value of the laser-excited spectra is obtained with the LS reference and laser-excited normalized spectra. Then the scaling factor between IAD_{HL} and the IAD value of the laser-excited spectra are obtained respectively: $\gamma_{\alpha} \approx 0.57$ and $\gamma_{\beta} \approx 0.53$. This excitation fraction around 55% confirms that our pink beam microprobe is able to efficiently probe a volume corresponding to the center of the laser excited region, and is consistent with previous experiments with this molecule.

The bottom panel of Fig. 7.9 presents the signal in the valence-to-core region, following about 2 hours of acquisition. Dipole-allowed transitions dominate the vtc XES, so MOs (molecular orbitals) with Fe 4p character are the primary contributors to the spectrum. In transition metal complex $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$, the orbitals with Fe 4p mixing have mostly ligand character. The $K\beta$ " feature (at the lower energy part of vct XES) is attributed to the MOs with ligand 2s character and $K\beta_{2,5}$ features (at the higher energy part) are attributed to ligand 2p character respectively [4] [22]. As the transition from LS to HS happens, two of the six Fe 3d electrons originally residing in the nonbonding t_{2g} orbitals now populate antibonding orbitals. It results in the elongation of the Fe-ligand bonds, diminishing orbital overlap and a destabilization of the MOs, illustrated in Fig. 7.10.



Figure 7.10. Schematic of MOs and electronic configurations of $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ in LS and HS

The experimentally observed energy blue shift of vct XES in HS indicates that the probed MOs are destabilized. The intensity reduction is owing to the decreased amount of Fe p character contributing to the populated MOs. Moreover, a subtle shoulder appears on the high energy side of the $K\beta_{2,5}$ feature in HS. It originates from MOs based on the mixing of Fe 3d and N 2p (of ligand) orbitals, which have reduced symmetry that makes the vtc transitions dipole allowed in HS [4]. Obtained with a single analyzer crystal, this result shows that the pink beam microprobe fully enables time-resolved valence-to-core XES at synchrotrons, especially when combined with a multi-crystal spectrometer [4]. This two-hour continuous pump-probe acquisition did not show obvious weird, unexpected

features at the end of the experiment in terms of the spectrum energy and features. It demonstrates that this robust sample can endure the high flux of pink beams.

Finally, some useful cases were demonstrated to illustrate the potential of the setup. Fig. 7.11 presents the total XES spectra obtained in a single minute of acquisition (i.e. 30 seconds OFF, 30 seconds ON) of $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ 10mM (a relatively modest concentration) in acetonitrile. Both the K α and mainline K β signals exhibit very good signal to noise. In particular, the quality of the K β difference signal is sufficient to clearly identify the spin of the transient excited state. This result is very promising for a number of possible applications. While this particular sample is known to produce strong difference signals, the implementation of a multicrystal spectrometer would open the possibility to either use much lower concentration, or detect smaller difference signals with the same short acquisition time. For samples that exhibit strong x-ray or laser damage, or permanent photoproducts, single pass measurements are now possible, even without very large quantity of sample.

In the case of low concentrations, signal to background is the main consideration. Using our simple lead shielding to block scattered x-rays, we demonstrated that our setup is easily sensitive to 1 mM solute concentration. Fig. 7.12 presents the result of 10 min acquisition (5 min OFF, 5 min ON) with $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ 1 mM in acetonitrile. The low concentration sample definitely shows a little higher background in K β mainline and vtc features. While the vtc region becomes statistical limited, the contrast for the K α and mainline K β signals is very good, such that no significant difference is observed from the 10 mM case.



Figure 7.11. One minute data acquisition of $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ 10 mM in acetonitrile. From top to bottom are K α , K β full range, and vtc features. It is demonstrated that merely a very short acquisition time is capable of having clear K α and K β mainline features.



Figure 7.12. The capability of focused pink beams on gaining XES of a low concentration sample, $[Fe(bpy)_3]^{2+}$ 1 mM in acetonitrile, over a short data acquisition time, 10 minutes. The top plot is K α , the middle is the full range of K β , and the bottom plot is the vtc signal. The blue curves are for ground state, red for laser-excited state and the green shows the differences of the previous two signals (transient signals).

CHAPTER 8

Conclusion and Outlook

A new capability of pink beam XES at APS has been designed and achieved. In the layout, a water-cooled flat mirror effectively suppresses high harmonics of undulator radiation to avoid thermal damages on x-ray optics and unwanted excitation on samples. A beryllium CRL focuses the reflected pink beam to a 40 μ m x 12 μ m FWHM elliptical spot at the sample position. The small spot size in vertical guarantees a fresh sample volume between subsequent laser shots in a high speed liquid jet setup. In combination with a ultrafast laser, the average high flux of 10^{15} x-ray photons/second remarkably promotes the applicability of the time-resolved XES spectroscopy in a laser-pump/x-rayprobe scheme. A first application to nonresonant XES was demonstrated, with gamechanging new capabilities being offered now, as acquisition times are reduced by about 3 orders of magnitude. With a model SCO molecule, $[Fe^{II}(bpy)_3]^{2+}$, we succeeded in demonstrating that this pink beam capability is able to efficiently probe the photoexcited state and characterize the charge transfer dynamics happening in the molecule. Besides establishing time-resolved valence-to-core XES as a viable technique on solvated systems, it is also possible to measure sensitive samples where volume recirculation is not an option, based on the successful experience on low concentration samples and short data acquisition.

This capability offers direction advantages to experiments involved in measuring weak valence-to-core (vtc) transition features of transient species. Since the vtc features have

intensity of two or three orders of magnitude lower than the K α transition, it is impractical to measure the features in time-resolved spectroscopy with a mono beam to elucidate the dynamic process. The pink beam XES opens an avenue for research which needs to interrogate the dynamic changes of bond length, valence electron distribution, and geometric properties in a molecule, on which vtc-XES can provide direct information. For instance, the pink beam XES can be utilized to characterize the dynamical properties of the artificial enzyme catalyzing the conversion of methane to methanol which I investigated with time-resolved x-ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS) before [74].

In addition to XES, a potential application of the pink beam excitation capability is Auger electron spectroscopy (AES) where the focused pink beam is utilized to create a core hole of atoms in high efficiency to prepare the core-ionized initial state for AES. Another potential application is time-resolved x-ray liquid scattering. It is a technique that can accommodate large incident bandwidth, and is often coupled to XES at XFELs since it can provide structural information complementary to the electronic information.

Further enhancements are being currently implemented by adding a multi-crystal von Hamos spectrometer for more efficient signal collection coupled to a higher resolution gateable detector (Lambda 750k, X-Spectrum). While our simple setup as implemented is able to provide a microprobe in the range of 5 to 12 keV, a natural way to increase the range consists in using a multilayer monochromator with several reflective stripes. Another direct advantage of such a setup is the possibility to easily switch between monochromatic beam (crucial for x-ray absorption spectroscopy and resonant x-ray emission spectroscopy) and pink beam. Such a setup is being designed for a new beamline part of the APS-U project, the Advanced Spectroscopy Beamline, scheduled for late 2020.

References

- Pieter Glatzel, Roberto Alonso-Mori and Dimosthenis Sokaras. Hard X-Ray Photonin/Photon-out Spectroscopy: Instrumentation, Theory and Applications. X-Ray Absorption and X-Ray Emission Spectroscopy: Theory and Applications, Chapter 6, 125-153 (2016)
- [2] Erik Gallo and Pieter Glatzel. Valence to Core Xray Emission Spectroscopy. Adv. Mater. 26, 7730-7746 (2014)
- [3] Yu Zhang, Shaul Mukamel, Munira Khalil, and Niranjan Govind. Simulating Valenceto-Core Xray Emission Spectroscopy of Transition Metal Complexes with Time-Dependent Density Functional Theory. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 11, 58045809 (2015)
- [4] Anne Marie March, Tadesse A. Assefa, Christina Boemer, Christian Bressler, Alexander Britz, Michael Diez, Gilles Doumy, Andreas Galler, Manuel Harder, Dmitry Khakhulin, Zoltán Németh, Mátyás Pápai, Sebastian Schulz, Stephen H. Southworth, Hasan Yava, Linda Young, Wojciech Gawelda and György Vankó. Probing Transient Valence Orbital Changes with Picosecond Valence-to-Core X-ray Emission Spectroscopy. J. Phys. Chem. C, 121, 2620-2626 (2017)
- [5] Martha A. Beckwith, Michael Roemelt, Marie-Noëlle Collomb, Carole DuBoc, Tsu-Chien Weng, Uwe Bergmann, Pieter Glatzel, Frank Neese, and Serena DeBeer. Manganese Kβ X-ray Emission Spectroscopy As a Probe of MetalLigand Interactions. *Inorg. Chem.*, 50, 8397-8409 (2011)
- [6] Mario Ulises Delgado-Jaime, Benjamin R. Dible, Karen P. Chiang, William W. Brennessel, Uwe Bergmann, Patrick L. Holland, and Serena DeBeer. Identification of a Single Light Atom within a Multinuclear Metal Cluster Using Valence-to-Core X-ray Emission Spectroscopy. *Inorg. Chem.*, 50, 1070910717 (2011)
- [7] Yuming Xiao, Paul Chow and Guoyin Shen. High pressure X-ray emission spectroscopy at the advanced photon source. *HIGH PRESSURE RESEARCH*, 36, 315-331 (2016)

- [8] Christopher Weis, Georg Spiekermann, Christian Sternemann, Manuel Harder, György Vankó, Valerio Cerantola, Christoph J. Sahle, Yury Forov, Robin Sakrowski, Ilya Kupenko, Sylvain Petitgirard, Hasan Yavas, Christian Bressler, Wojciech Gawelda, Metin Tolan, and Max Wilke. Combining X-ray Kβ_{1,3} valence-to-core, and X-ray Raman spectroscopy for studying Earth materials at high pressure and temperature: the case of siderite. J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 34, 384 (2019)
- [9] J. R. Skuza, R. A. Lukaszew, E. M. Dufresne, D. A. Walko, C. Clavero, A. Cebollada, C. N. Cionca and R. Clarke. Real time structural modification of epitaxial FePt thin films under x-ray rapid thermal annealing using undulator radiation. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 90, 251901 (2007)
- [10] A. King, N. Guignot, P. Zerbino, E. Boulard, K. Desjardins, M. Bordessoule, N. Leclerq, S. Le, G. Renaud, M. Cerato1, M. Bornert, N. Lenoir, S. Delzon, J.-P. Perrillat, Y. Legodec, and J.-P. Itié. Tomography and imaging at the PSICHE beam line of the SOLEIL synchrotron. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, 87, 093704 (2016)
- [11] A. Meents, M. O. Wiedorn, V. Srajer, R. Henning, I. Sarrou, J. Bergtholdt, M. Barthelmess, P. Y. A. Reinke, D. Dierksmeyer, A. Tolstikova, S. Schaible, M. Messerschmidt, C. M. Ogata, D. J. Kissick, M. H. Taft, D. J. Manstein, J. Lieske, D. Oberthuer, R. F. Fischetti and H. N. Chapman. Pink-beam serial crystallography. *Nature Communications*, 8, 1281 (2017)
- [12] Robert P. Winarski, Martin V. Holt, Volker Rose, Peter Fuesz, Dean Carbaugh, Christa Benson, Deming Shu, David Kline, G. Brian Stephenson, Ian McNulty, and Jörg Maser. A hard X-ray nanoprobe beamline for nanoscale microscopy. J. Synchrotron Rad., 19, 10561060 (2012)
- [13] Thierry Martin and Andreas Koch. Recent developments in X-ray imaging with micrometer spatial resolution. J. Synchrotron Rad., 13, 180194 (2006)
- [14] Pieter Glatzel and Uwe Bergmann. High resolution 1s core hole X-ray spectroscopy in 3d transition metal complexeselectronic and structural information. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 249, 65-95 (2005)
- [15] Frank de Groot. High-Resolution X-ray Emission and X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy. Chem. Rev., 101, 1779-1808 (2001)
- [16] Joanna K. Kowalska, Frederico A. Lima, Christopher J. Pollock, Julian A. Rees, and Serena DeBeer. A Practical Guide to Highresolution Xray Spectroscopic Measurements and their Applications in Bioinorganic Chemistry. *Israel Journal of Chemistry*, 56, 803-815 (2016)
- [17] M. Rovezzi and P. Glatzel. Hard x-ray emission spectroscopy: a powerful tool for the characterization of magnetic semiconductors. *Semicond. Sci. Technol.*, 29, 023002 (2014)
- [18] Stuart D. Gamblin and David S. Urch. Metal Kβ X-ray emission spectra of first row transition metal compounds. J. Electron Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom., 113, 179192 (2001)
- [19] Christopher J. Pollock, Mario Ulises Delgado-Jaime, Mihail Atanasov, Frank Neese, and Serena DeBeer. Kβ Mainline X-ray Emission Spectroscopy as an Experimental Probe of MetalLigand Covalency. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 136, 94539463 (2014)
- [20] Anuj Bhargava, Cindy Y. Chen, Kenneth D. Finkelstein, Matthew J. Ward and Richard D. Robinson. X-ray emission spectroscopy: an effective route to extract site occupation of cations. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, 20, 28990-29000 (2018)
- [21] G. Vankó, T. Neisius, G. Molnár, F. Renz, S. Kárpáti, A. Shukla, and F. M. F. de Groot. Probing the 3d Spin Momentum with X-ray Emission Spectroscopy: The Case of Molecular-Spin Transitions. J. Phys. Chem. B 110, 11647-11653 (2006)
- [22] U. Bergmann, C.R. Horne, T.J. Collins, J.M. Workman, and S.P. Cramer. Chemical dependence of interatomic X-ray transition energies and intensities a study of Mn $K\beta^{"}$ and $K\beta_{2,5}$ spectra. *Chemical Physics Letters* 302, 119124 (1999)
- [23] Grigory Smolentsev, Alexander V. Soldatov, Johannes Messinger, Kathrin Merz, Thomas Weyhermüller, Uwe Bergmann, Yulia Pushkar, Junko Yano, Vittal K. Yachandra, and Pieter Glatzel. X-ray Emission Spectroscopy To Study Ligand Valence Orbitals in Mn Coordination Complexes. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 131, 13161-13167 (2009)
- [24] Christopher J. Pollock and Serena DeBeer. Valence-to-Core X-ray Emission Spectroscopy: A Sensitive Probe of the Nature of a Bound Ligand. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 133, 55945601 (2011)
- [25] Janine C. Swarbrick, Yaroslav Kvashnin, Karina Schulte, Kalaivani Seenivasan, Carlo Lamberti, and Pieter Glatzel. Ligand Identification in Titanium Complexes Using Xray Valence-to-Core Emission Spectroscopy. *Inorg. Chem.*, 49, 8323-8332 (2010)
- [26] Kyle M. Lancaster, Michael Roemelt, Patrick Ettenhuber, Yilin Hu, Markus W. Ribbe, Frank Neese, Uwe Bergmann, and Serena DeBeer. X-ray Emission Spectroscopy Evidences a Central Carbon in the Nitrogenase Iron-Molybdenum Cofactor. *Science*, 334, 974-977 (2011)

- [27] Mario Ulises Delgado-Jaime, Serena DeBeer, and Matthias Bauer. Valence-to-core X-ray emission spectroscopy of iron-carbonyl complexes: implications for the examination of catalytic intermediates. *Chem. Eur. J.*, 19, 15888-15897 (2013)
- [28] Nicole Lee, Taras Petrenko, Uwe Bergmann, Frank Neese and Serena DeBeer. Probing Valence Orbital Composition with Iron Kβ X-ray Emission Spectroscopy. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 132, 97159727 (2010)
- [29] Yulia Pushkar, Xi Long, Pieter Glatzel, Gary W. Brudvig, G. Charles Dismukes, Terrence J. Collins, Vittal K. Yachandra, Junko Yano, and Uwe Bergmann. Direct Detection of Oxygen Ligation to the Mn₄Ca Cluster of Photosystem II by X-ray Emission Spectroscopy. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 49, 800-803 (2010)
- [30] Sigrid G. Eeckhout, Olga V. Safonova, Grigory Smolentsev, Mattia Biasioli, Viktor A. Safonov, Ludmila N. Vykhodtseva, Marcin Sikora and Pieter Glatzel. Cr local environment by valence-to-core X-ray emission spectroscopy. J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 24, 215-223 (2009)
- [31] Andrzej A. Markowicz. X-ray Physics. Handbook of X-Ray Spectrometry (Second Edition, Revised and Expanded), Chapter 1 (2002)
- [32] Bipin K. Agarwal. Interaction of X-Rays with Matter. X-Ray Spectroscopy: An Introduction (Second Edition), Chapter 3, 105-153 (1991)
- [33] James R. Connolly. The Interaction of X-rays with Matter and Radiation Safety. Introduction to X-Ray Powder Diffraction,, (2012)
- [34] Philip Willmott. Synchrotron Physics. An Introduction to Synchrotron Radiation: Techniques and Applications (First Edition), Chapter 3, 39-85 (2011)
- [35] Giorgio Margaritondo. Characteristics and Properties of Synchrotron Radiation. Synchrotron Radiation (Basics, Methods and Applications), Chapter 2, 29-63 (2015)
- [36] https://www.bnl.gov/ps/userguide/lectures/Lecture-2-Shaftan.pdf
- [37] Giorgio Margaritondo. From Synchrotrons to FELs: How Photons Are Produced; Beamline Optics and Beam Characteristics. X-Ray Absorption and X-Ray Emission Spectroscopy: Theory and Applications, Chapter 2, 25-50 (2016)
- [38] https://www.aps.anl.gov/About/Overview
- [39] https://ops.aps.anl.gov/SRparameters/node5.html

- [40] Bertold Krässig, R. W. Dunford, E. P. Kanter, E. C. Landahl, S. H. Southworth, and L. Young. A simple cross-correlation technique between infrared and hard x-ray pulses. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 94, 171113 (2009)
- [41] https://www.aps.anl.gov/Sector-7/7-ID
- [42] Eric M. Dufresne, Bernhard Adams, Dohn A. Arms, Matthieu Chollet, Eric C. Landahl, Yuelin Li, Donald A. Walko and Jin Wang. TimeResolved Research at the Advanced Photon Source Beamline 7ID. AIP Conference Proceedings, 1234, 181184 (2010)
- [43] Anne Marie March, Andrew Stickrath, Gilles Doumy, Elliot P. Kanter, Bertold Krässig, Stephen H. Southworth, Klaus Attenkofer, Charles A. Kurtz, Lin X. Chen, and Linda Young. Development of high-repetition-rate laser pump/x-ray probe methodologies for synchrotron facilities. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, 82, 073110 (2011)
- [44] Julian A. Rees, Vlad Martin-Diaconescu, Julie A. Kovacs and Serena DeBeer. Xray Absorption and Emission Study of Dioxygen Activation by a Small-Molecule Manganese Complex *Inorg. Chem.*, 54, 64106422 (2015)
- [45] http://sites.psu.edu/bioinorganic/wp-content/uploads/sites/29389/2015/08/2016-04-DeBeer-advanced-x-ray-spectroscopy.pdf
- [46] Xianbo Shi and Pieter Glatzel
- [47] Matthias Bauer. HERFD-XAS and valence-to-core-XES: new tools to push the limits in research with hard X-rays? *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 16, 13827-13837 (2014)
- [48] Omer Söğüt, Erdoğan Büyükkasap and Hasan Erdoğan. Chemical-effect variation of Kβ/Kα X-ray intensity ratios in 3d elements. Radiation Physics and Chemistry, 64, 343-348 (2002)
- [49] P. Glatzel, U. Bergmann, F. M. F. de Groot and S. P. Cramer. Influence of the core hole on K β emission following photoionization or orbital electron capture: A comparison using MnO and ⁵⁵Fe₂O₃. *Phys. Rev. B*, 64, 045109 (2001)
- [50] G. Peng, F.M.F. de Groot, K. Hmlinen, J.A. Moore, X. Wang, M.M. Grush, J.B. Hastings, D.P. Siddons, W.H. Armstrong, O.C. Mullins, S.P. Cramer. High-resolution manganese x-ray fluorescence spectroscopy. Oxidation-state and spin-state sensitivity. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 116, 29142920 (1994)
- [51] https://www.aps.anl.gov/Science/Scientific-Software/XOP

- [52] Manuel Sánchez del Río and Roger J. Dejus. XOP v2.4: recent developments of the x-ray optics software toolkit. Proc. of SPIE, 8141, 814115 (2011)
- [53] http://www.cxro.lbl.gov/
- [54] R. W. James. The Optical Principles of the Diffraction of X-rays. (1967)
- [55] Kirkpatric, P. and Baez, A. V.. Formation of optical images by x-rays. Jour. Optical. Soc. America., 384, 766 (1948)
- [56] Wolter, Hans. Glancing incidence mirror systems as imaging optics for X-rays. Annalen der Physik., 10, 94 (1952)
- [57] A. Snigirev, V. Kohn, I. Snigireva, and B. Lengeler. A compound refractive lens for focusing high-energy X-rays. *Nature*, 384, 4951 (1996)
- [58] Bruno Lengeler, Christian G Schroer, Marion Kuhlmann, Boris Benner, Til Florian Günzler, Olga Kurapova, Federico Zontone, Anatoly Snigirev and Irina Snigireva. Refractive x-ray lenses. J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys., 38, A218A222. (2005)
- [59] https://www.rxoptics.de/index.html
- [60] B. Lengeler. Refractive x-ray lenses: New developments. (2012)
- [61] https://www.jjxray.dk/
- [62] http://www.mcxtrace.org/
- [63] Eric M. Dufresne, Robert W. Dunford, Elliot P. Kanter, Yuan Gao, Seoksu Moon, Donald A. Walko, and Xusheng Zhang. Pink-beam focusing with a one-dimensional compound refractive lens. J. Synchrotron Rad., 23, 10821086 (2016)
- [64] W. Ackermannand and et al. Operation of a free-electron laser from the extreme ultraviolet to the water window. *Nature Photonics*, 1, 336342 (2007)
- [65] https://proteus-pp.com/
- [66] Jianming Chen, Liyuan Zhang, and Ren-Yuan Zhu. Large Size LYSO Crystals for Future High Energy Physics Experiments. *IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON NUCLEAR* SCIENCE 52, 31333140 (2005)

- [67] Pier Carlo Ricci, Carlo Maria Carbonaro, Daniele Chiriu and Alberto Anedda. Structurally defective cerium doped lutetiumyttrium oxyorthosilicates for optically stimulated luminescence imaging devices. J. Mater. Chem. 21, 18425-18430 (2011)
- [68] Martin Nikl. Scintillation detectors for x-rays. Meas. Sci. Technol. 17, R37R54 (2006)
- [69] CarelW E van Eijk. Inorganic scintillators in medical imaging. Phys. Med. Biol. 47, R85R106 (2002)
- [70] https://www.crystals.saint-gobain.com/sites/imdf.crystals.com/files/documents/lysomaterial-data-sheet.pdf
- [71] https://www.tedpella.com/apertures-and-filaments_html/aperture7.htm
- [72] Peter Atkins. An introduction to coordination compounds. Shriver & Atkins' Inorganic Chemistry 5th edition chapter 7, 199222 (2009)
- [73] Malcolm Gerloch and Edwin C. Constable. An Introduction to TransitionMetal Chemistry. Transition Metal Chemistry: The Valence Shell in dBlock Chemistry chapter 1, 119 (2005)
- [74] Dooshaye Moonshiram, Antonio Picón, Alvaro Vazquez-Mayagoitia, Xiaoyi Zhang, Ming-Feng Tu, Pablo Garrido-Barros, Jean-Pierre Mahy, Frédéric Avenier and Ally Aukauloo. Elucidating light-induced charge accumulation in an artificial analogue of methane monooxygenase enzymes using time-resolved X-ray absorption spectroscopy. *Chem. Commun.* 53, 2725–2728 (2017)
- [75] Peter Atkins. d-Metal complexes: electronic structure and properties. Shriver & Atkins' Inorganic Chemistry 5th edition chapter 7, 473506 (2009)
- [76] Malcolm Gerloch and Edwin C. Constable. CrystalField Splittings. Transition Metal Chemistry: The Valence Shell in dBlock Chemistry chapter 3, 2759 (2005)
- [77] Jean-Franois Létard, Philippe Guionneau and Laurence Goux-Capes. Towards Spin Crossover Applications. Spin Crossover in Transition Metal Compounds III 235, 221249 (2004)
- [78] Coen de Graaf and Carmen Sousa. Study of the Light-Induced Spin Crossover Process of the [Fe^{II}(bpy)₃]²⁺ Complex. Chem. Eur. J. 16, 45504556 (2010)
- [79] Gerald Auböck and Majed Chergui. Sub-50-fs photoinduced spin crossover in [Fe^{II}(bpy)₃]²⁺. Nature Chemistry 7, 629633 (2015)

- [80] A. Cannizzo, C.J. Milne, C. Consani, W. Gawelda, Ch. Bressler, F. van Mourik and M. Chergui. Light-induced spin crossover in Fe(II)-based complexes: The full photocycle unraveled by ultrafast optical and X-ray spectroscopies. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews* 254, 26772686 (2010)
- [81] Latévi Max Lawson Daku, Alfredo Vargas, Andreas Hauser, Antony Fouqueau and Mark Earl Casida. Assessment of Density Functionals for the High-Spin/Low-Spin Energy Difference in the Low-Spin Iron(II) Tris(2,2-bipyridine) Complex. *ChemPhysChem* 6, 1393–1410 (2005)
- [82] Hans Jakob Wörner, Christopher A. Arrell, Natalie Banerji, Andrea Cannizzo, Majed Chergui, Akshaya K. Das, Peter Hamm, Ursula Keller, Peter M. Kraus, Elisa Liberatore, Pablo Lopez-Tarifa, Matteo Lucchini, Markus Meuwly, Chris Milne, Jacques-E. Moser, Ursula Rothlisberger, Grigory Smolentsev, Joël Teuscher, Jeroen A. van Bokhoven and Oliver Wenger. Charge migration and charge transfer in molecular systems. Struct. Dyn. 4, 061508 (2017)
- [83] Matthew Ross, Amity Andersen, Zachary W. Fox, Yu Zhang, Kiryong Hong, Jae-Hyuk Lee, Amy Cordones, Anne Marie March, Gilles Doumy, Stephen H. Southworth, Matthew A. Marcus, Robert W. Schoenlein, Shaul Mukamel, Niranjan Govind, and Munira Khalil. Comprehensive Experimental and Computational Spectroscopic Study of Hexacyanoferrate Complexes in Water: From Infrared to X-ray Wavelengths. J. Phys. Chem. B 122, 50755086 (2018)
- [84] K. Haldrup, G. Vankó, W. Gawelda, A. Galler, G. Doumy, A. M. March, E. P. Kanter, A. Bordage, A. Dohn, T. B. van Driel, K. S. Kjær, H. T. Lemke, S. E. Canton, J. Uhlig, V. Sundström, L. Young, S. H. Southworth, M. M. Nielsen, and C. Bressler. GuestHost Interactions Investigated by Time-Resolved Xray Spectroscopies and Scattering at MHz Rates: Solvation Dynamics and Photoinduced Spin Transition in Aqueous Fe(bipy)²⁺₃. J. Phys. Chem. A 116, 9878-9887 (2012)
- [85] Lindsey L. Jamula, Allison M. Brown, Dong Guo and James K. McCusker. Synthesis and Characterization of a High-Symmetry FerrousPolypyridyl Complex: Approaching the ${}^{5}T_{2}/{}^{3}T_{1}$ Crossing Point for Fe^{II}. Inorg. Chem. 53, 1517 (2014)
- [86] Mátyás Pápai, György Vankó, Coen de Graaf and Tamás Rozgonyi. Theoretical Investigation of the Electronic Structure of Fe(II) Complexes at Spin-State Transitions. *Inorg. Chem.* 53, 1517 (2014)
- [87] György Vankó, Amélie Bordage, Mátyás Pápai, Kristoffer Haldrup, Pieter Glatzel, Anne Marie March, Gilles Doumy, Alexander Britz, Andreas Galler, Tadesse Assefa, Delphine Cabaret, Amélie Juhin, Tim B. van Driel, Kasper S. Kjær, Asmus Dohn,

Klaus B. Møller, Henrik T. Lemke, Erik Gallo, Mauro Rovezzi, Zoltán Németh, Emese Rozsályi, Tamás Rozgonyi, Jens Uhlig, Villy Sundström, Martin M. Nielsen, Linda Young, Stephen H. Southworth, Christian Bressler, and Wojciech Gawelda. Detailed Characterization of a Nanosecond-Lived Excited State: X-ray and Theoretical Investigation of the Quintet State in Photoexcited $[Fe(terpy)_2]^{2+}$. J. Phys. Chem. C 119, 5888-5902 (2015)